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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (THE "GEM") OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE "STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a
market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities fraded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities tfraded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

To increase sources of income and disperse risks associated
with its business portfolio, the Group had been actively
exploring new business opportunities. During the period, it
successfully expanded info the provision of tfechnical services
on an e-commerce market platform and had achieved
splendid results.

Along with market globalization, especially after the
financial crisis in 2008, the overall consumption needs of
the international market gradually shiffed to goods with
high quality and moderate price. And the popularity of the
internet allowed consumers to overcome the geographic
boundaries and not be limited to the domestic retailers but
to purchase from the globe. Meanwhile, the manufacturers
in China had been looking for ways o rapidly expand their
markets while lowering their cost of sales thus increasing their
profits. Under these circumstances, Chinese manufacturers
reacted quickly and as a result, a large number of
the manufactures, retailers and wholesalers bypassed
infermediate traders to directly demonstrate their products
in the web to surfers worldwide. By now, e-commerce has
become a popular frading platform amongst consumers
and manufacturers in the world. While serving consumers
with convenient and affordable shopping, e-commerce also
facilitates numerous enterprises to expand fo intfernational
markets in an effective and efficient manner.

During the period, a significant part of the Group’s profit was
originated from contract revenues by provision of tfechnical
services and managing several e-commerce websites in
mainland China. The websites cooperated with Chinese
manufacturers and helped enterprises to directly present
high-quality, lower-price products from China to consumers
all over the world, including many developing nations and
regions. Constrained by development, customers in these
regions previously lacked of channels to purchase high-
quality, lower-price products from China. That was the time
when the e-commerce websites of the Group emerged
info those markets. The websites addressed the needs of
customers in these regions by providing a perfect trading
platform for them. The websites soon became a popular
purchasing channel among local customers. By now, the
Group’s websites have successfully established a large and
stable customer base and achieved remarkable revenue
and profits. With the intention of expanding its business
territory to the globe, the Group has also started building
new e-commerce B2C platforms.
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PROSPECTS

As the number of e-shoppers keeps increasing globally,
B2C e-commerce is becoming one of the main trends of
market development of the future. Catering for this wave
of growth, the Group will maintain its existing advantages
while confinuing development of its e-commerce business
and exploring new marketfs. According to iResearch
Consulting Group, China Report, it is predicted in 2012
that, the economics of scale of the Internet in China will
reach RMB390,100,000,000, representing a rise of 59.1%
as compared with 2011. E-commerce in China will reach
RMB1,700,300,000,000 in 2012 and the compound annual
growth rate of the e-commerce market will be 52.3% from
2011 to 2014 (Source: China Internet Marketing Trend
Analysis 2011 by iResearch Consulting Group, China. www.
iresearch.com.cn); the overall industry represents huge
room for growth. The Group believes that it will benefit from
the promising prospects of the industry and its business will
maintain strong growth in the future.

APPRECIATION

In appreciation of the shareholders’ faith in the Company,
the Board has proposed the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.15 cent per share for the year ended 30 June 2011.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my
heartfelt gratitude to the management team and all our staff
for their commitment, dedication and contribution, and all of
our shareholders, valuable customers and business partners
for their ongoing support.

On behalf of the Board
HUANG Shaokang
Chairman

Hong Kong
26 September 2011
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Year ended 30 June 2011 & - & ——

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Review

During the year under review, the Group reported a revenue
of about HK$192,849,000 for the year ended 30 June 2011,
representing an increase of about 80.5% as compared to
about HK$106,829,000 for the previous year. It was mainly
attributable to increase in contract value on customers
services income. The increase in gross profit was mainly due
to the increase in revenue from IT confract services, it had
a higher profit margin. The increase in the profit was mainly
due to the increase in the income from the provision of
professional IT contract services on E-commerce.

In order to cope with the Group’s business growth, the
total operating expenses were HK$29,998,000 for the year
(2010: HK$20,760,000), representing an increase of 44.5%
as compared to last year. The increase in finance costs
amounted to HK$4,084,000 (2010: HK$1,534,000), was
substantially accounted for the non-cash inputted inferest on
the convertible notes.

The income tax expenses of the Group was HK$6,553,000 for
the year (2010: HK$300,000).

The Group recorded a profit aftributable to equity holders
of the Company of about HKS$71,450,000 or 2.32 Hong
Kong cents per share for the year, compared to a profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company of about
HK$7.491,000 or 2.23 Hong Kong cents per share for the last
year.

Capital Structure

The Group generally finances its operation with internally
generated cashflows, convertible notes and banking
facilities. The Group contfinued to exert stringent confrol
over treasury policies. The Company intends to finance the
Group’s future operations, capital expenditure and other
capital requirement with the existing bank balance available.

As at 30 June 2011, the interest rate of banking facilities was
charged at the range of Hong Kong prime rate ("P")+1.5%
(2010: P+1.5%/+0.5%).

As at 30 June 2011, the Group (excluding the convertible
notes) had no bank and other loans (2010: Nil).

On 30 April 2010, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the “"Subscription Agreement”) to allot and
issue (i) an aggregate of 400,000,000 subscription shares af
HK$0.05 per share for a total consideration of HK$20 million,
and (ii) the convertible notes with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$225 million. The Subscription Agreement was
completed on 10 August 2010. Details of the terms and
conditions of the Subscription Agreement have been stated
in an announcement of the Company dated 30 April 2010.
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On 18 Jur?e 2010, the Company passed a special resolution,
the nominal value of all issued and unissued shares in the
share capital of the Company was reduced from HK$0.10
to HK$0.01 (the “Capital Reduction”). On 26 July 2010,
the Capital Reduction became effective. The authorised
share capital of the Company of HK$1,000,000,000 divided
into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each were reduced
to HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each. The issued share capital of the Company of
HK$33,616,800 were reduced to HK$3,361,680 as a result of
the reduction in par value of shares in issue and the credit of
HK$30,255,120 arising from the Capital Reduction has been
eliminated against the accumulated losses of the Company.

As at 30 June 2011, the convertible notes of the Company
with an aggregate principal amounting to approximately
HK$238,416,000 were converted into 4,474,931,570 ordinary
shares of the Company and the remaining convertible notes
of HK$11,584,000 were converted into 231,680,000 ordinary
shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each subsequent to the
end of the reporting period in July 2011.

Save as the above, the capital structure of the Company
had no material change.

Material Acquisitions, Disposals and Significant
Investments

(a) On 22 October 2010, the Group entered into a
provisional agreement with independent third
parties to acquire properties at total consideration
of approximately HK$50 million. The transaction was
completed on 15 March 2011.

(b) On 16 June 2011, the Group had applied for the
subscription of a total of 66,666.248 non-voting
participating redeemable preference shares of the
Murtsa Fund of US$0.001 each at a total consideration
of approximately HK$50.7 million. The subscription was
completed on 20 June 2011.

Save as the above, the Company had no other significant
investments and material acquisitions or disposals for the
year ended 30 June 2011.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

During the year under review, the Group financed its
operations by internally generated cash flow, convertible
notes and banking facilities provided by banks.

As at 30 June 2011, the Group’s consolidated shareholders’
funds, fotal current assefs and net current assets were
HK$362,340,000 (2010: HK$32,717,000), HK$286,206,000 (2010:
HK$64,837,000) and HK$267,238,000 (2010: HK$51,097,000)
respectively.
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Year ended 30 June 2011 HE—ZF—

In respect of the Group’'s total current assetfs of
HK$286,206,000 as at 30 June 2011 (2010: HK$64,837,000),
tfrade receivable (net of provision for doubtful debts)
account for 25.5% (2010: 49.7%) whilst pledged deposits,
cash and cash equivalents accounted for about 71.3% (2010:
34.2%). As at 30 June 2011, the Group’s pledged deposits
amount to HK$3,524,000 (2010: HK$6,718,000) and cash
and cash equivalents amounted to HK$200,484,000 (2010:
HK$15,477,000).

As at 30 June 2011, the Company had outfstanding
convertible notes amounting to HK$10,567,000 (2010:
HK$23,046,000), the maturity date of which is 10 August 2013.
Details of the convertible notes is set out in note 24 to the
financial statements.

As at 30 June 2011, the Group (excluding the convertible
notes) had no bank and other loans (2010: Nil).

All of the Group’s pledged deposits and cash and cash
equivalents were denominated in Australian dollars, Hong
Kong dollars, Canadian dollars, Renminbi, Singapore dollars
and United States ("US") dollars.

As at 30 June 2011, the Group had an aggregafte composite
banking facilities from banks of approximately HK$3,600,000
(2010: HK$6,600,000) which has not been utilised, except for
the performance bonds and advance payment bonds as
detailed in the section "Contingent Liabilities” below.

Gearing Ratio

As at 30 June 2011, the gearing ratfio of the Group as a ratio
of total liabilities over total assets was 8.0% (2010: 53.1%).

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly generated revenue and incurred costs
in Australian dollars, Hong Kong dollars, Canadian dollars,
Renminbi, Singapore dollars and US dollars.

During the year, the Group did not enter any foreign
exchange forward contracts for hedging the foreign currency
risk exposure on making payment to the suppliers.
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The Grou.p requires all its operating units to use forward
currency contracts to eliminate the foreign currency
exposures for currencies other than US dollars and on any
individual transactions in excess of HK$500,000 or equivalent,
for which payment is anticipated more than one month after
the Group has entered into a firm commitment for a sale or
purchase. The forward currency conftracts must be in the
same currency as the hedged item. It is the Group’s policy
not to enfer into forward contracts until a firm commitment is
in place.

The Group has no foreign currency contracts outstanding at
30 June 2011 (2010: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had executed performance bonds and advance
payment bonds of approximately HK$245,000 (2010:
approximately HK$245,000) in respect of certain services
provided by the Group.

Save as the above, the Group has no other contingent
liabilities at 30 June 2011.

Charges on Assets

As at 30 June 2011,
secured by:

the banking facilities of the Group are

(i) there was no corporate guarantee executed by
the Company during the year (2010: approximately
HK$18,300,000); and

(i) the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits
amounting to approximately HK$3,500,000 (2010:
approximately HK$6,700,000).

Deployment on Human Resources

As at 30 June 2011, the number of staff of the Group was 896
(2010: 863). Headcount increase comprised of mainly new
technical staff hired to support the confinuous expansion of
the Group’s business. Staff remuneration is reviewed once a
year or as the management deems appropriate. Changes in
remuneration are based on a range of factors including the
Group’s performance, the competitiveness of remuneration
with the external market, and individual employee’s
performance during the year. Employees were paid at

fixed remuneration with discretionary bonus and benefits of
medical insurance, mandatory provident fund, share options
and necessary training.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and of
the senior management of the Group are set out below.

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. HUANG Shaokang (F4F), aged 46, is the chairman of
the Group. Mr. Huang is also a director of Virtus Foundation
Limited. He joined the Group in 2002 and is responsible for
overall strategy planning, management and development
of the Group. Mr. Huang has over 18 years of experience in
the management of various companies which invest mainly
on the IT and electronic industry. He has solid experiences
in frade and business in the People’s Republic of China,
Singapore and Hong Kong. Mr. Huang studied in the Physics
Department in the University of Hui Zhou, the People’s
Republic of China from 1983 to 1986. Mr. Huang is a director
of China Dynamic Enterprises Limited.

Mr. CHOW Siu Kwong (AE¥*%), aged 41, is the chief
executive officer of the Group. He joined the Group in 2000
and is responsible for development of Group’s soffware
technology and methodology. Mr. Chow has over 18 years
of experience in the IT industry and has worked for key IT
solution providers before joining the Group. He graduated
from Victoria University (formerly known as Victoria University
of Technology), Australia, with a Bachelor’'s degree and
a Master's degree in Computer Science. He also holds a
Master’s degree in Business Administration.

Mr. MENG Hu (#[%), aged 38, is experienced in corporate
management and investment. Mr. Meng holds a bachelor’s
degree in electronic engineering from Tsinghua University
and a Master's Degree of Business Administrative from the
Guanghua School of Management, Peking University. Mr.
Meng is a director of ChangAn Investment Holdings Il Limited
and Wise Focus International Limited.

Mr. ZHANG Zhen (5R&E). aged 35, is experienced in the
infernet and telecommunication industry. Mr. Zhang holds
a master’'s degree in management and dual bachelor’s
degrees in Engineering and Law from Tsinghua University
and has acquired qualification as a Chinese lawyer (without
holding a practising certificate). Mr. Zhang is a partner of
IDG-Accel China Growth GP Il Associates Ltd. and a director
of ChangAn Investment Holdings Il Limited.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. CHEN Ling Sonny (FREf%), aged 28, is a non-executive
director of the Company. He joined the Company in January
2011. Mr Chen is currently working in the field of e-commerce
and business work flow software. He holds a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree from Simon Fraser University in
British Columbia, Canada. Mr Chen is a director of Innopac
Holdings Limited.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LU Wei (B/&), aged 54, is an associate professor at
University of Science and Technology of China. He has over
20 years of experience in financial management and many
years of practical experience in management consulting for
UN organisations and other international instfitutions. Mr. Lu
was working with a Sino-Canadian Training and Consulting
Institute since 1988 to 1994. He holds a Master's degree in
engineering and a PhD degree in the University of Science
and Technology of China.

Mr. FONG Fuk Wai (7#&1&), aged 48. Mr. Fong had obtained
a bachelor's degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and a master’'s degree in Business
Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He
is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Fong has gained more than 20 years of
experience in auditing, accounting and finance area and
services the private and listed public companies in Hong
Kong.

Mr. LEE Kin Fai (Zf2#8) , aged 38, is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of Hong Kong Instfitute of Certified Public
Accountants. He holds a Master of Business Administration
from the Manchester Business School of University of
Manchester, United Kingdom. He is currently an independent
non-executive director of Oriental City Group Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8325). He also served as an executive director
of Apollo Solar Energy Technology Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 566), a company listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("Stock Exchange”),
during January 2009 to August 2010.

Directors’” and Senior Management’s Biographies
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Chiu Hung, Alex (kt£t), aged 45, is the company
secretary of the Company, and oversees the legal, corporate
and compliance maftters of the Group. Mr. Chan holds
a bachelor’'s degree in Business Administration, major
in Finance. He has been working with several listed and
mulfinational companies for over 16 years. Mr. Chan is a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certfified
Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong Institfute
of Certified Public Accountants, The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. HE Hua Guang (filZE¥*), aged 45, is the general
manager of professional services of the Group. He joined
the Group in 1997 and is responsible for the development
and management of the Group’s provision of IT professional
services business. Mr. He has over 18 years of experience
in the IT field. He graduated from the Harbin Institute
of Technology, the People’s Republic of China, with a
Bachelor’'s degree in Mechanical & Electronic Engineering
and a Master’s degree in Engineering Management.

Mr. KOH Seng Loo (FfA#), aged 53, joined the Group in
1991 and is responsible for managing project delivery. Mr.
Koh has over 26 years of experience in the IT fields and
has worked for different enterprises covering consultancy,
construction and professional services business. He
graduated from the Natfional University of Singapore with a
Bachelor of Science degree.
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The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set
out in note 15 to the financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 30 June 2011 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 41 to 127.

The directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK1.15 cents per share to shareholders, whose names
appear in the register of members of the Company on 24
November 2011 (the "Proposed Final Dividend”). Subject to
the passing of the necessary resolution at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Tuesday, 15 November 2011 (the "2011 AGM"), the Proposed
Final Dividend will be payable on or about 56 December 2011.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on page 128. This summary does not
form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND
CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of movements in convertible notes, share capital and
share options of the Company during the year are set out in
notes 24, 26 and 27 to the financial statements, respectively.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association of the Company or the laws of
Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 30 June 2011.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year are set out in note 28 to the
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 30 June 2011, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HK$65,172,000,
of which HK$62,630,000 has been proposed as a final
dividend for the year. In addition, the Company’s share
premium account in the amount of HK$241,462,000, in
accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business. The share premium account may also be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group'’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 88% (2010: 75%) of
the total sales for the year and the largest customer included
therein amounted to approximately 41% (2010: 55%).

Purchase from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 59% (2010: 65%) of the total purchases for
the year and purchases from the largest supplier included
therein amounted to approximately 18% (2010: 27%).

None of the directors of the Company or any of their
associates or any shareholders, which, to the best knowledge
of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital, had any beneficial interest in the Group's five
largest customers or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS =
The board of directors of the Company (the "Board”) during ARArRzEZe([EF2|)KEELAFRALEHE
the year and up to the date of this report were: REEABHLENT :
Executive directors: HITEE .
Mr. HUANG Shaokang mOREE
Mr. CHOW Siu Kwong Ak kL

Mr. LIU Lin (retired on 3 November 2010)
Mr. MENG Hu (appointed on 17 August 2010)
Mr. ZHANG Zhen (appointed on 17 August 2010)

Non-executive directors:

Mr. YIP Sam Lo (resigned on 3 November 2010)
Mr. CHEN Ling Sonny (appointed on 27 January 2011)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. LU Wei

Mr. FONG Fuk Wai

Mr. CHANG Chung Wai (resigned on 3 November 2010)
Mr. LEE Kin Fai (appointed on 3 November 2010)

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. HUANG Shaokang and Mr. LU Wei shall
retire at the 2011 AGM. Besides, according to Article 86(3)
of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. LEE Kin Fai and
Mr. Chen Ling Sonny, who were appointed by the Board as
directors with effect from 3 November 2010 and 27 January
2011 respectively, shall retire at the 2011 AGM. All of the
above retiring directors, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the said meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from Mr. LU Wei, Mr. FONG Fuk Wai and Mr.
LEE Kin Fai and as at the date of this report still considers
them to be independent.

DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 11 to
13 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS" SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the 2011 AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings and reviewed by the remuneration
commiftee on a continuous basis. Other emoluments are
recommended by the Company’s remunerafion committee
with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the result of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as the related party tfransactions and connected
fransactions disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements,
no director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance fo the business of
the Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
was a party during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No confracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered info or existed during
the year.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS UNDER PART
XV OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES
ORDINANCE (THE "SFO")

A. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

As at 30 June 2011, the inferests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of
the SFO; or as ofherwise notified fo the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the "GEM
Listing Rules”) were as follows:

1. Aggregate long position in shares and (in respect
of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives)
underlying shares and in debentures of the
Company and its associated corporation(s)
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a. Interest in shares (other than pursuant to a. REHhzEz (RBRERATETA
equity derivatives such as share options, (BlanfE AR - ] R 2 R AR #E 3%
warrants to subscribe or convertible bonds) SRR ES) ERIN)
(i) the Company O
Number of ordinary ~ Percentage of issued
Number of Director Notes Capacity shares inferested share capital*
 £3:4 il af HEEECEERYA BERTRAEIL:
Mr. HUANG Shaokang (@) Interest of a confrolled corporation 123,966,942 2.37%
BORAE REHIARRER
Mr. MENG Hu (b) Interest of controlled corporations 2,860,000,000 54.88%
RRRAE R Al R
Mr. CHEN Ling Sonny (c) Interest of a confrolled corporation 715,000,000 13.72%
REREE REHIARER
Notes: GER
a. These 123,966,942 shares of the Company a. BIEE S L EEEH EXVEL - China
were held by China Dynamic Enterprises Dynamic Enterprises Limited
Limited ("China Dynamic”), a corporation ([ China Dynamicl) B AR & Z
wholly owned by Mr. HUANG Shaokang. 123,966,942 f% 1) - EME—E 5B R
Accordingly, Mr. Huang was deemed fo BELELAE - BREWE ARChina
be interested in 123,966,942 shares of Dynamicff#5 5 2 123,966,942 7
the Company held by China Dynamic ARIRDFHEAES -

pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

b. These 2,860,000,000 shares of the b. BREZFHFRBEKOIEXVE -
Company were held by ChangAn ChangAn Investment Holdings I
Investment Holdings Il Limited (*ChangAn Limited ([ ChangAn Investment J)
Investment”), a corporation owned as A A7) ,2.2,860,000,000% f& 17 ©
to 56.25% by Wise Focus International ChangAn InvestmentJh —fi f1Wise
Limited ("Wise Focus”). Wise Focus was Focus International Limited ([Wise
owned as to 66.67% by Mr. MENG Hu who Focus|) # H556.25%2 A 7] - Wise
is also its sole director. Accordingly, Mr. Focuse # fE % & #E 5 66.67% * il d
MENG Hu was deemed to be interested in RELENMABEK —BE Btk TR
2,860,000,000 shares of the Company held %448 A ChangAn Investment
by ChangAn Investment pursuant to Part FT#5 48 22,860,000,0008% 48 A 7] f% 15
XV of the SFO. FHEEER -

c. These 715,000,000 shares of the Company c. WBEBLHERBEEMEXVE
were held by Innopac Holdings Limited Innopac Holdings Limited
("Innopac”), a corporation wholly owned ([Innopacl) EAARXRAZ
by Mr. CHEN Ling Sonny. Accordingly, Mr. 715,000,000/ f& 17 o E M — & &5 K
Chen was deemed to be inferested in RAREREE - BRAELEHEBEAR
715,000,000 shares of the Company held InnopacHT#A 2 715,000,000 A& 2~
by Innopac pursuant to Part XV of the SFO. AR R o

+ The percentage represents the number of + ZADLIEEA ERE 2 T BRER AN
ordinary shares interested divided by the NEIR=_E——FANA=Z=+RHZEZE
number of issued shares of the Company TRDEE -

as at 30 June 2011.
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(i) Associated corporation - ChangAn (i) BB X B -—ChangAn
Investment (a controlled corporation of Investment (A 2 &2 % H A A1)
the Company)

Number of
shares interested Percentage
in associated of total

Name of Director Note Capacity corporation issued shares

REBEEES HERTRE

EEpg M 5t BEzROHE BYHIL

Mr. MENG Hu M Interest of a 25,875,000 56.25%

controlled corporation

mREE RERIARER

Note: B ET -

1. These 25,875,000 shares of ChangAn 1. 25,875,000 ChangAn Investment
Investment were held by Wise Focus, a %5 FBWise Focus#fA& + Wise Focus
corporatfion was owned as to 66.67% by REHEZREEEEOO.67% kL
Mr. MENG Hu who is also its sole director. SENTABEE—EFEF AW BE
Accordingly, Mr. MENG Hu was deemed BEMEBEEOEXVE ZRELE
to be interested in 25,875,000 shares of WS A A fHWise FocusfiiF g 2
ChangAn Investment held by Wise Focus 25,875,000fxChangAn Investment
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO. R in 2 #E%s o

+ The percentage represents the number of + ZEOLEHEEEZZIBROBE N
shares interested divided by the number of ChangAn Investmenti® ZZ ——4F
issued shares of ChangAn Investment as NAZTHZEREITRMHEAE -
at 30 June 2011.

b. Interests in debentures b, WE&P 7R
The Company or its associated corporations XA T % MR R E B 3 & BT (T
had not issued debentures. (A5 -
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c. Inferests in underlying shares (physically settled
equity derivatives)

(i) the Company

Share option scheme

Name of Director Capacity

Esps a6

Mr. CHOW Siu Kwong
Bk ERABA
Details of the above share opfions as
required to be disclosed by the GEM
Listing Rules have been disclosed in note
27 to the financial statements.

+ The percentage represents the number of
underlying shares interested divided by the
number of issued shares of the Company
as at 30 June 2011.

(ii)y Associated corporation

No such inferest was reported by the
Directors.

2. Aggregate short position in shares and (in respect
of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives)
underlying shares and in debentures of the
Company and its associated corporation(s)

No such short position was reported by the
Directors.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2011, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had,
under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, nor were
they taken to or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO, any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) or any inferest which were required to be
entered info the register kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or any inferest which were
required to be nofified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings
by directors of listed issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Beneficial owner
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c. AR T ZEE (BMRMK

AETELA)
iy A&RAH
B Rt B

Percentage of
Number of the underlying
underlying shares over
shares in the Company’s
respect of the issued
options granted share capital*
ERHBRESR HERGEELT
ZHBROHE BERTRAE L
2,880,000 0.05%
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B. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2011, the interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the

B. TERXR
RZZE——FXA=1+0 BEEFRHE
GO SE336IKINEARRBFEZELMATA
BRARRB D RABRO T 2 EaskR

Company under section 336 of the SFO were as follows: mr
1. Aggregate long position in shares and (in respect 1. RARARG R (HBERAISTELTA
of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives) BEZEEME) MEARGOP2TFE 2
underlying shares of the Company 2
a. Interests in shares of the Company (other than a. RAEARERDZEZ (RERALT
pursuant to equity derivatives such as share AT A (PInERKE - AIRE 2R
options, warrants to subscribe or convertible IR Sk AT R E ) HBRIN)
bonds)
Number of Percentage of
ordinary shares issued share
Name of Shareholder Capacity interested Notes capital*
BRREHE =47 REEZCEERHE fist AEBTRABAL
ChangAn Investment Beneficial owner 2,860,000,000 ) 54.88%
ERBEA
IDG-Accel China Growth Interest in controlled 2,860,000,000 M 54.88%
Fund Il L.P. corporation
REZH 2 EE 2 s
IDG-Accel China Growth Interest in controlled 2,860,000,000 ) 54.88%
Fund Il Associates L.P. corporations
RRE LB 2 B
IDG-Accel China Growth GP Il Interest in controlled 2,860,000,000 M 54.88%
Associates Ltd. ("IDG") corporations
R 2 A B 2
Mr. Patrick J MCGOVERN Interest in controlled 2,860,000,000 M 54.88%
Patrick J MCGOVERNZ: & corporations
B 2 EB 2 s
Mr. ZHOU Quan Interest in controlled 2,860,000,000 Mm 54.88%
BAREE corporations
REE 2 EE 2
Wise Focus Interest in confrolled 2,860,000,000 2) 54.88%
corporation
NS N o 5
Innopac Beneficial owner 715,000,000 3) 13.72%
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1.

ChangAn Investment was interested in
2,860,000,000 shares of the Company.
ChangAn Investment is a company owned as
to 40.44% by IDG-Accel China Growth Fund
I L.P., an investment fund conftrolled by IDG-
Accel China Growth Fund Il Associate L.P.. IDG-
Accel China Growth Fund Il Associates L.P. is
controlled by IDG, which is in turn controlled by
Mr. ZHOU Quan and Mr. Patrick J MCGOVERN.
Accordingly, IDG-Accel China Growth Fund I
L.P., IDG-Accel China Growth Fund Il Associates
L.P., IDG, Mr. ZHOU Quan and Mr. Patrick J

MCGOVERN were deemed to be interested in
the shares held by ChangAn Investment under
Part XV of the SFO.

-
Report of the Directors
L
+
EEERE
=
Number of Percentage of
ordinary shares issued share
Name of Shareholder Capacity interested Notes capital*
RERER a4 BAEZZEEREE M EBRTRABEIL:
Lime Development Limited Beneficial owner 284,844,000 4) 5.46%
("Lime Development”) EnBAA
Town Health International Interest in confrolled 296,364,000 @) 5.68%
Investments Limited corporations
(*Town Health”)
FRERREARAF NREH 2 BB 2 s
(TEERER])
Key Elegance Beneficial owner 301,720,000 %) 5.79%
Development Limited EmEAA
("Key Elegance”)
Mr. LING Wai Hoi Interest in controlled 301,720,000 ©) 5.79%
corporation
EEREE WREH 258 2 s
Interest of spouse 26,722,231 (%) 0.51%
feiBras
Ms. WU Mei Chu Interest of spouse 301,720,000 6) 5.79%
GBS/t L 2
Beneficial owner 26,722,231 6) 0.51%
BREAA
Ms. WEI Hong Mei Beneficial owner 23,120,000 - 0.44%
BB L BREAA
Notes: B 5

ChangAn Investmentit &K 2 7
2,860,000,0000% f% 15 # % B #& = °
ChangAn InvestmentA — &
IDG-Accel China Growth Fund I
L.P.# 540.44%% % 2 A 7] - MIDG-
Accel China Growth Fund Il L.P.8
A& —1{EfIDG-Accel China Growth
Fund Il Associates L.PE#| 2% &
EH % - MIDG-Accel China Growth
Fund Il Associates L.P.8|fHIDG#E
#l o MIDGAI & & & 5% & KPatrick
J MCGOVERNZE & # | « A It -
R IEF 5 & B & & B EXVEL - IDG-
Accel China Growth Fund II L.P. -
IDG-Accel China Growth Fund Il
Associates L.P. - IDG - A2 %k £ Rk
Patrick J MCGOVERNZ%: 4 ¥ #45 &
HRChangAn Investmentfi# 2 B 15
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ChangAn Investment is a company owned as
to 56.25% by Wise Focus. Wise Focus was owned
as to 66.67% by Mr. MENG Hu who is also its sole
director. Wise Focus and Mr. MENG Hu were
deemed to be interested in the shares held by
ChangAn Investment under Part XV of the SFO.

The interest of Innopac has also been disclosed
as interest of Mr. CHEN Ling Sonny in the above
paragraph under “Disclosure of Interests under
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance -
Directors and Chief Executives”.

Lime Development was interested in 284,844,000
shares of the Company. Lime Development is
controlled by Town Health. Accordingly, Town
Health was deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Lime Development under Part XV
of the SFO.

Apart from the above, Town Health was
interested in 11,520,000 shares of the Company
which were held by its controlled corporations.

These 301,720,000 shares of the Company
were held by Key Elegance, a corporation
wholly owned by Mr. LING Wai Hoi. Accordingly,
Mr. Ling was deemed to be infterested in
301,720,000 shares of the Company held by Key
Elegance pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Apart from the above, Mr. LING Wai Hoi was
deemed to be inferested in 26,722,231 shares of
the Company through interest of his spouse, Ms.
WU Mei Chu.

Ms. WU Mei Chu was deemed to be interested
in 301,720,000 shares of the Company through
interest of her spouse, Mr. LING Wai Hoi.

Apart from the above, Ms. WU Mei Chu
personally owned 26,722,231 shares of the
Company.

The percentage represents the number of
ordinary shares interested divided by the
number of issued shares of the Company as at
30 June 2011.
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o

Interests in underlying shares (physically settled

equity derivatives)

Convertible notes of the Company

Name of Shareholder

BREREE

Lime Development

Town Health

FRfE IR

Notes:

Capacity

54

Beneficial owner
Interest in controlled

corporations
REZR 2 EE 2 s

Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

b. RN ZED (EWRMRAITE

TH)

LN Rl 8

Number of Percentage of
underlying shares the underlying
in respect shares over the
of the Company’s
convertible issued share
notes issued Noftes capital*
ERITTRRER HERGEADRR
FRHEERGEE Bt st ERTRAARLL
231,680,000 (a) 4.44%
231,680,000 (a) 4.44%

Lok

Lime Development was interested in 231,680,000
underlying shares of the Company which may
be issued and allotted upon exercise of the
conversion right attaching to the convertible
notes in a principal amount of HK$11,584,000
at the conversion price of HK$0.05 per share.
Lime Development is controlled by Town Health.
Accordingly, Town Health was deemed to be
interested in the convertible notes held by Lime
Development under Part XV of the SFO.

The percentage represents the number of
underlying shares interested divided by the
number of issued shares of the Company as at
30 June 2011.

a. Lime Development® & 2 &
231,680,0008% #8 BA A% 1n = #E B Ak 4 o
ZERD ok R EF RO0.05%8 AT
5 78 £ %811,584,0007% T 2 7] # A%
REPIS 2 IR R A T 81T RE
% o Lime DevelopmentA B i B B3
EHzAR Al REBEFHLBE
1R BIEXVED - BR 12 Bl B 4 4% & FLime
DevelopmentFi 55 2 Al # g R &+
e -

v REALEEAESZAEROR N
ARAR-F-—#X<A=tAZE
BITRABE -




2. Aggregate short position in shares and (in respect
of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives)
underlying shares of the Company

No such interest was reported to the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2011, no person,
other than the Directors whose infterests are set out in
the above paragraph under "Disclosure of Interests
under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
- Directors and Chief Executives”, had registered an
interest or a short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company that was required fo be
recorded under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Apart from those as disclosed in the above paragraph under
"Disclosure of Interest under Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance - A. Directors and Chief Executives”, af no
fime during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any directors or their respective spouse or children
under 18 year or age, or were any rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable to the directors of the Company to
acquire such rights in any other body corporated.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by
the public as at the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the directors, initial management shareholders or
their respective associates of the Company has an inferest
in a business which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations of
HK$50,000.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the reporting period of
the Group are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
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CLOSU?QE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(a) For determining the enfitlement to attend
and vote af the 2011 AGM

The 2011 AGM is scheduled to be held on Tuesday,
15 November 2011. For determining the entitlement
to attend and vote at the 2011 AGM, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 11 November 2011 to Tuesday, 15 November
2011 (both days inclusive), during which period no
fransfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
In order to eligible to attend and vote at the 2011
AGM, unregistered holders of shares of the Company
should ensure that all the share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the branch share registrar of the Company
in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury
Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 10
November 2011.

(b) For determining the entitlement to the
Proposed Final Dividend

The Proposed Final Dividend is subject fo the approval
of shareholders at the 2011 AGM. For determining the
entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend, the register
of members of the Company will also be closed from
Tuesday, 22 November 2011 to Thursday, 24 November
2011 (both days inclusive) during which period no
fransfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
In order to qualify for entitlement to the Proposed Final
Dividend, unregistered holders of shares of the Company
should ensure that all share fransfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the branch share registrar of the Company
in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury
Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 21
November 2011.

AUDITORS

There have been no change of auditors in the past three
years. A resolutfion for the reappointment of Ascenda Cachet
CPA Limited as auditors of the Company will be proposed at
the 2011 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
HUANG Shaokang
Chairman

Hong Kong
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Corporate Governance Repor’r

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report for the year ended 30 June 2011.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises the importance of good corporate
governance practices to maintain shareholder value and
investor confidence. The Group is committed to maintaining
statutory and regulatory standards and adherence to
the principles of corporate governance with emphasis on
fransparency, independence and accountability with a view
to safeguarding the interests of shareholders and enhancing
corporate value.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions
as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the "CG Code") contained in Appendix 15 to GEM Listing
Rules.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the code provisions set out in the CG Code. Key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised below.

A. THE BOARD
A.T RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION

The overall management and control of the Company’s
business are vested in its Board. The Board is responsible
for establishing policies, strategies and plans, providing
leadership in the attainment of the objective of
creafing value to shareholders, and on behalf of the
shareholders, overseeing the Company'’s financial
performance. All directors carry outf ftheir duties in
good faith and in compliaonce with the standards
of applicable laws and regulations, take decisions
objectively and acts in the interests of the Company
and its shareholders at all fimes.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of
the Company, including the approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, material
fransactions (in particular those may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the
senior management, with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. Each director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses, upon
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The .doy-fo-doy management, adminisfration and
operation of the Company are led by the Chief
Executive Officer and senior management of the
Company. The Board has also delegated a schedule
of responsibilities to these officers, which include the
implementation of decisions of the Board, the co-
ordination and direction of day-to-day operation and
management of the Company in accordance with the
management strategies and plans approved by the
Board, formulating and monitoring the production and
operating plans and budgets, and supervising and
monitoring the control systems.

The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board
prior fo any significant transactions entered into by the
foregoing officers and senior management.

A.2 BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises the following directors:-

Executive directors:

Mr. HUANG Shaokang, Chairman of the Board

Mr. CHOW Siu Kwong, Chief Executive Officer and
member of the Remuneration Committee

Mr. MENG Hu

Mr. ZHANG Zhen

Non-executive director:
Mr. CHEN Ling Sonny

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. LU Wei, member of the Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee

Mr. FONG Fuk Wai, Chairman of the Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee

Mr. LEE Kin Fai, member of the Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee

The list of all directors (by category) is set out under
the section headed "Corporate Information” in this
annual report and is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules from fime to time. The independent
non-executive directors are expressly identified in
all corporate communications of the Company. The
biographical details of the directors of the Company are
set out under the section headed "Directors’ and Senior
Management’s Biographies” in this annual report. None
of the members of the Board is related to one another.
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A.3
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Corporate Governance Report

During the year ended 30 June 2011, the Board has
at all times met the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules relating fo the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive directors with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting
and related financial management expertise. The
Company has also adopted the recommended best
practice under the CG Code for having at least one-
third of its Board members being independent non-
executive directors.

All directors have brought a wide range of valuable
business expertise, experiences and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Through active participation in Board meetings, taking
the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict
of interests and serving on Board committees, all
independent non-executive directors make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

The Company has received a written annual
confirmation from each independent non-executive
director of his independence pursuant tfo the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of its independent non-executive directors
independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company are carried out by
different individuals.

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. HUANG Shaokang,
who provides leadership for the Board and ensures
its effectiveness in all aspects. With the support of the
senior management, the Chairman is also responsible
for ensuring that the directors receive adequate,
complete and reliable information in a fimely manner
and appropriate briefing on issues arising at the Board
meetings.

The Chief Executive Officer is Mr. CHOW Siu Kwong, who
is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day management
and operations and focuses on implementing
objectives, policies and strategies approved and
delegated by the Board.
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.
A.4 APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF

DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive directors of the Company
is appointed for a specific terms and is subject to
retirement by rotation once every three years.

Though the Company has not set up a nomination
committee, the Board as a whole is responsible for
reviewing the Board composition, developing and
formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment
and succession planning of directors and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive directors.
The Company has adopted "Directors Nomination
Procedures” as written guidelines in providing formal,
considered and fransparent procedures to the Board for
evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships.
Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry
out the selection process by making reference to the
skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal
integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates, the Company’s needs and other relevant
statutory requirements and regulations. An external
recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the
recruitment and selection process when necessary.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election
and removal of directors are laid down in the Articles of
Association. According to the Artficles of Association, all
directors of the Company are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and any new
director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional to the Board shall submit himself/herself for
re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting
after appointment. Accordingly, Mr. HUANG Shaokang
and Mr. LU Wei shall retire by rotation pursuant to the
Artficles of Associafion. Besides, Mr. LEE Kin Fai and Mr.
CHEN Ling Sonny, who were appointed by the Board
as directors with effect from 3 November 2010 and
27 January 2011 respectively, shall retire at the 2011
AGM. All of the above retiring directors, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the 2011 AGM.
The Company’s circular, sent together with this annual
report, contains detailed information of the above
directors.
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During the year ended 30 June 2011, the Board,
through its meetings held on 24 September 2010 (with
the presence of Mr. CHOW Siu Kwong, Mr. MENG Hu,
Mr. ZHANG Zhen, Mr. LU Wei and Mr. FONG Fuk Wai)
has reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate to the requirements
for the business of the Group; made recommendation
of the reelection of the retiring directors standing for
re-election at the 2010 annual general meeting; and
assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive directors of the Company.

A.5 TRAINING AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT

FOR DIRECTORS

All directors of the Company receive comprehensive,
formal and failored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment, so as to ensure understanding of
the business and operations of the Group and directors’
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

Directors of the Company are confinually updated on
legal and regulatory developments, and the business
and market changes to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Continuing briefings and professional
development for directors will be arranged as necessary.

A.6 BOARD MEETINGS
A.6.1 Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules for regular Board meetings are normally
agreed with the directors in advance in order to
facilitate them to attend. In addition to the above,
notice of at least 14 days is given of a regular Board
meeting. For other Board meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given.

Draft agenda of each Board meeting is usually sent fo
all directors together with the notice in order to give
them an opportunity to include any other matters in the
agenda for discussion in the meeting.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are sent to all directors at least
3 days before each Board meeting to keep the directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Group and to enable them to make
informed decisions. The Board and each director also
have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary.
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The 8hief Executive Officer, the Company Secretary and
other relevant senior management of the Company
normally aftend regular Board meetings and, where
necessary, other Board and committee meetings
to advise on business developments, financial and
accounting matters, statutory compliance, corporate
governance and other major aspects of the Group.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes
of all Board and committee meetings. Draft minutes are
normally circulated to directors for comments within
a reasonable time after each meeting and the final
version is open for directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material
tfransaction, which involves a conflict of interest for a
substantial shareholder or a director, will be considered
and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board
meeting. The Articles of Association contain provisions
requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
fransactions in which such directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

A.6.2 Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board has met regularly during the year ended 30
June 2011 for reviewing and discussing the financial and
operating performance and development of the Group.
The attendance records of each director at these Board
meetings are set out below:

Attendance/

Name of Director Number of Board Meetings

Executive directors

Mr. HUANG Shaokang 3/10
Mr. CHOW Siu Kwong 10/10
Mr. MENG Hu (Note 1) 7/8
Mr. ZHANG Zhen (Note 1) 4/8
Mr. LIU Lin (Note 2) 1/4
Non-executive director

Mr. YIP Sam Lo (Note 2) 1/4
Mr. CHEN Ling Sonny (Note 3) 2/3
Independent non-executive directors

Mr. LU Wei 7/10
Mr. FONG Fuk Wai 9/10
Mr. LEE Kin Fai (Note 4) 5/6

Mr. CHANG Chung Wai (Note 2) 2/4
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Notes:

(1)  Mr. MENG Hu and Mr. ZHANG Zhen were appointed as executive
directors of the Company on 17 August 2010. A total of 8 Board
meetings were held from the date of their appointment to 30
June 2011.

(2) Mr. LIU Lin, Mr. YIP Sam Lo and Mr. CHANG Chung Wai retired/
resigned as executive director/non-executive director/
independent non-executive director of the Company on 3
November 2010. A total of 4 Board meetings were held from 1
July 2010 fo the date of their retirement/resignation.

(3) Mr. CHEN Ling Sonny was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company on 27 January 2011. A total of 3 Board meetings
were held from the date of his appointment to 30 June 2011.

(4) Mr. LEE Kin Fai was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 3 November 2010. A total of 6 Board
meetings were held from the date of his appointment to 30 June
2011.

A.7 REQUIRED STANDARD OF DEALINGS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct
regarding directors’ dealings in the Company’s
securities (the "Own Code") on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required
Standard of Dealings”). Specific enquiry has been
made of the Company’s directors and all of them have
confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Required Standard of Dealings
and the Own Code throughout the year ended 30 June
2011.

The Company has also established written guidelines
on no less exacting terms than Required Standard
of Dealings (the "Code for Securities Transactions
by Relevant Employees”) for securities transactions
by employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Company.
No incident of non-compliance of the Code for Securities
Transactions by Relevant Employees by the employees
was noted by the Company.
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B.1

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established two Board committees,
namely, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been
established with defined written terms of reference,
which are posted on the Company’s website “www.
epro.com.hk”and are available to shareholders upon
request. All the Board committees should report to the
Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

The practices, procedures and arrangements in
conducting meetings of Board committees follow in line
with, so far as practicable, those of the Board meetings
set out in A.6.1 above.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of four
members, being three independent non-executive
directors of the Company, namely Mr. FONG Fuk Wai
(Chairman), Mr. LU Wei and Mr. LEE Kin Fai, and one
executive director of the Company, namely, Mr. CHOW
Siu Kwong.

The duties of the Remunerafion Committee are mainly
to (i) make recommendations on the establishment of
procedures for developing remuneration policy and
structure of the executive directors and the senior
management, such policy shall ensure that no director
or any of his/her associates will parficipate in deciding
his/her own remuneration; (ii) make recommendations
on the remuneration packages of the executive
directors and the senior management; (iii) review and
approve the remuneration packages of the executive
directors and the senior management by reference to
the performance of the individual and the Company as
well as market practice and conditions; and (iv) review
and approve the compensation arrangements for the
executive directors and the senior management.

The Human Resources Department is responsible
for collection and administration of the human
resources data and making recommendations fo
the Remuneration Committee for consideration. The
Remuneration Committee consults with the Chairman
of the Board/Chief Executive Officer of the Company
about these recommendations on remuneration polic
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During the year ended 30 June 2011, the Remuneration
Committee has met once with the presence of all the
existing committee members. The members in that
meeting had reviewed the remuneration package of the
directors and senior management of the Company.

Details of the remuneration of each director of the
Company for the year ended 30 June 2011 are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements contained in this
annual report.

B.2 AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises a total of three
members, namely Mr. FONG Fuk Wai (Chairman), Mr.
LU Wei and Mr. LEE Kin Fai, all of whom are independent
non-executive directors of the Company. The Chairman
of the Audit Committee also possesses the appropriate
accounting and financial management expertise as
required under Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules. None
of the members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the Company’s existing external auditors.

The duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to
(i) review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer
or external auditors before submission to the Board;
(iiy review the relationship with the external auditors
by reference fto the work performed by the auditors,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditors; and
(iii) review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.

During the year ended 30 June 2011, the Audit
Committee has held 4 meetings and has reviewed
the financial statements, results announcements and
reports for the year ended 30 June 2010, for the 3
months ended 30 September 2010, for the six months
ended 31 December 2010 and for the 9 months ended
31 March 2011; the financial reporting and compliance
procedures; the report from the senior management on
the Company’s internal control and risk management;
and considered the re-appointment of external auditors.
The external auditors were invited to attend one of the
meetings without the presence of executive directors o
discuss with the Audit Committee on issues arising from
the audit and financial reporting matters.
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The attendance records of the Audit Committee
meetings are set out as follows:

Attendance/
Number of Meetings

Name of
Audit Committee Member

Mr. FONG Fuk Wai (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. LU Wei 2/4
Mr. LEE Kin Fai (Note 1) 3/3
Mr. CHANG Chung Wai (Note 2) 0/1

Notes:

(1) Mr. LEE Kin Fai was appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company on 3 November 2010. A total
of 3 Audit Committee meetings were held from the date of
his appointment to 30 June 2011.

(2) Mr. CHANG Chung Wai resigned as an independent non-
executive director and the member of the Audit Committee
of the Company on 3 November 2010. Only 1 Audit
Committee meeting was held from 1 July 2010 to the date
of his resignation.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors have acknowledged their responsibilities
for preparing the financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 30 June 2011,

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of quarterly,
infterim and annual reports, price sensitive
announcements and other disclosures required under
the GEM Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.
The management has provided such explanation and
information to the Board as necessary to enable the
Board to make an informed assessment of the financial
informatfion and position of the Group put forward to the
Board for approval.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability fo confinue as a going concern.
There is no disagreement between the Board and the
Audit Committee regarding the re-appointment of
external auditors.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the internal
control system of the Company and for reviewing
its effectiveness. The Board is also responsible for
maintaining an adequate and effective internal control
system fo safeguard the interests of the shareholders
and fthe assefs of the Company. During the year
under review, the Board has conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Group. Such review covered the financial, operational,
compliance and risk management aspects of the
Group.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company
on their report responsibilities for the Company’s
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 is
set out in the section headed ‘Independent Auditors’
Report” in this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditors in respect of audit and non-audit services for
the year ended 30 June 2011 are as follows:

Nature of services Amount (HKS$)

450,000
119,400

Audit services
Non-audit services

COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board believes that a fransparent and timely
disclosure of the Group’s information will enable
shareholders and investors to make the best investment
decision and to have better understanding on the
Group’s business performance and strategies. It is also
vital for developing and maintaining continuing investor
relations with the Company’s potential and existing
investors.

The Company maintains a website at www.epro.com.
hk as a communication platform with shareholders and
investors, where the Group’s business developments and
operations, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public
access. Shareholders and investors may also write
directly to the Company’s principal place of business
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in Hgng Kong at Room 1501, 15th Floor, Tung Hip
Commercial Building, 244-248 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong or via email fo “enquiry@epro.com.hk” for
any inquiries. Inquiries are dealt with in an informative
and timely manner.

Shareholders’ meetings provide an opporfunity
for communication between the Board and the
shareholders. Board members and appropriate senior
staff of the Group are available at the meetfings to
answer any questions raised by shareholders.

The 2010 annual general meeting of the Company was
held on 3 November 2010, the notice of which was sent
tfo shareholders no less than 20 clear business days
before the meeting.

. SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’
interests and rights, separate resolutions are proposed
at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual directors, for
shareholders’ consideration and voting. Besides, the
rights of shareholders for proposing resolutions are
contained in the Arficles of Association.

All resolutions put forward at shareholders” meetings will
be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and
the poll voting results will be posted on the GEM website
‘www.hkgem.com” and the Company’s website “"www.
epro.com.hk” after the relevant shareholders’ meetings.
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Independent Auditors’” Report
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To the shareholders of EPRO Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
EPRO Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the "Group”) set out on pages 41 to 127, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position
as at 30 June 2011, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements that
give a frue and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary fo enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS" RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on fthese
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and
is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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An oudi’r.involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider infernal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
infernal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
frue and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
the Group as at 30 June 2011 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Chi Yuen
Practising Certificate Number P02671

Hong Kong
26 September 2011

Independent Auditors’ Report
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REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Share of profits and losses of
associates

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-contfrolling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
- Basic

- Diluted

ANNUAL REPORT

Consolidated Income Statement

mEBRERE

Year ended 30 June 2011 HE-ZT——FXA=+HIFE

Notes
B &E

LON 4,5

EmEERAR

EM
Hi A R ez 5
HERAHRA
THER
BAKA 7
NIEBEREZ BT R

R

BR B A 2 A 6
FEHER 10

REERF
ATET A :

AREERA
R ER

ARAEBEREZFAA
EiEzBREF

— &K

2011

£ 3§

2011 2010
—E——F —E-Z%F
HK$’ 000 HKS$' 000
FTHEx FEL
192,849 106,829
(84,994) (84,854)
107,855 21,975
4,253 8,110
(662) (642)
(29.336) (20,118)
(4,084) (1,534)
(28) -
78,003 7,791
(6.553) (300)
71,450 7,491
71,450 7,491
71,450 7,491
2.32 centsEfl 2.23 centsiE

1.54 centsi# Al

1.70 centsiE{ll
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
.
e mElEmE
Year ended 30 June 2011 BE-T——F X XA=+tHILFE
-
2011 2010
—E——F —T-ZF
HK$’ 000 HK$" 000
THET FHET
Profit for the year KEZAF 71,450 7.491
Other comprehensive income for REZHEME2E
the year, net of tax: (NBRFEIE) -
Available-for-sales investments: AHEERE
Changes in fair value RNTEEE 286 -
Exchange difference arising on BB INEB
translation of foreign operations EEERZE (2.178) (1.166)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEEZHEHRR
FOR THE YEAR g 69,558 6,325
Total comprehensive income EiE2HEk a8
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KABEBA 69,558 6,325
Non-controlling interests IR S - -
69,558 6,325

Lim




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AN
a

BRI 2R

30June 2011 —ZE——FXA=+H

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Notes HK$’ 000 HKS$’' 000
B 5 FHET FET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB R 14 56,090 3,716
Interests in associates REEE AR EEm 16 467 -
Available-for-sales investments AHHERE 17 51,012 -
Other receivables E fib B WRIE 20 - 1,250
Total non-current assets R AEMLTE 107,569 4,966
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18 3 34
Trade receivables FEWE 5 ER K 19 72,977 32,210
Prepayments, deposits and ENRE EER

other receivables E fib B WRIE 20 7.289 10,398
Equity investments at fair value BAFEFAEBRZ

through profit or loss ETRARERE 21 1,929 -
Pledged deposits [z R 22 3,524 6,718
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEES 22 200,484 15,477
Total current assets BB ERE 286,206 64,837
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables FE B SRR 23 2,825 2,240
Other payables and accruals HtEMNRIBREEE 10,806 10,975
Deferred revenue I JE Y = 537 525
Tax payables s aE 4,800 -
Total current liabilities BB ERE 18,968 13,740
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 267,238 51,097
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABERRBAE

LIABILITIES 374,807 56,063
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Convertible notes AR R IR 24 10,567 23,046
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEEE 25 1,900 300
Total non-current liabilities SERBBERE 12,467 23,346
Net assets EEFE 362,340 32,717
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners RKARBEBEAEGERES

of the Company
Issued capital BEITI’RA 26 52,115 33,617
Reserves i 246,095 (900)
Proposed final dividends R R EARR B 62,630 -

360,840 32,717
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 2 1,500 -
Total equity g G 362,340 32,717
HUANG Shaokang MENG Hu
EOE =R
Director

ANNUAL REPORT
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
IIV_\é$EE%E}J%
Year ended 30 June 2011 HE =T ——F R NA=1+HILFE
-
Attributable to owners of the Company
FRARERAARL
Available-
Fouity forsales Retained
componenf of investment  Exchange profits/  Proposed Non-
Issued Share Opfion ~ convertiole ~revaluation  fluctuation (Accumuloted final controlling Total
capital  premium eserve nofes 1eserve 1eserve losses)  dividends Total interests equity
UkEERE  TEREE  REEH/
BRfRE  RBEEE  BHERE EEDR EffEcRE METERE  (ZEFE)  ENRERS g FERER ER4E
HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000
Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin T T T Tin
AT July 2009 HZEENELA-E 8617 12210 270 - - (3916) (20859) - Bm - B
Tofal comprehensive TER 2 EhEEE
income for e year - - - - - (1.166) 10 - 632 - 6,325
Share opfons lopsed REERAH BRE
during the yeor - - (269) - - - 28
lssue of convertble BITHRSE
notes (note 24) (k) - - - 260 - - - - 2801 - 260
A30 Jung 2010 RZ5-257A21A 8617 12210 243 2801 - (5.084) (13,083) - an - am
AT July 2010 H5-5E¢R-1 34817 12210 243 2601 - (5.084)  (13,083) - N7 - kKAl
Total comprehensive TERIRR
income for the year st - - - - 286 (@178) 71,450 - 09,558 - 09,558
Capal reducfion ek (30,285) - - - - - 30,255 - - - -
(nofe 26()) (26(0)
Issue of shares, nef of BARREARRSD
shore issue expenses HiRY 4000 1395 - - - - - - 17,955 - 17,955
(note 26(0)) (H26(0)
Issue of convertble BIARRE
nogs - - - 26,954 - - - - 26,554 - 26,554
Direct fransacfion cost
afrioutable fo the
equify component
of converfible nofes
(note 24) - - - (1%) - - - - (13%3) - (1%3)
Brerche of share opfions 7R &R 4 n (205) - - - - - m - m
Issue of shares on SHTARZE
conversion of [ikit0)
convertible nofes ()
(note 24) 4749 196,950 - (27.680) - - - - 24017 - 24017
Capitalinjecton fiom HELTEER
nonconfraling ERiE
inferest of a subsidlicry - - - - - - - - - 1,500 1,500
Proposed finol dividends kSRS
(note 12) (W2 - - - - - - (62:630) 62,630

A 30 June 2011 RoR—57A=1R S8 208488 28 1,360 286 (7.262) 299 62,630 360840 1,500 362,340




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEREREHEK

Year ended 30 June 2011 HE-ZT——FXA=+HIFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Dividend income from equity
investments af fair value
through profit or loss
Fair value loss on equity
investments at fair value
through profit or loss
Gain on disposal of equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss

Depreciation

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Write-off of property, plant and equipment

Reversal of impairment of frade
receivables

Reversal of impairment of other receivables

Gain on disposal of available-for-sales
investments

Share of profits and losses of associates

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

Increase in frade receivables

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

Increase in equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss

Increase/(decrease) in frade payables

(Decrease)/increase in other payables
and accruals

Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue

Cash used in operations
Hong Kong profits tax
Overseas taxes paid

Net cash flows from/(used in)
operating activities
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(i) FE

2011 2010
—EB——F —E-ZF
HK$’ 000 HKS$' 000
FER FET
78,003 7,791
4,084 1,534
(134) (29)
(©)) (22)
92 -
- (683)
2,084 1,406
- 89
84 -
- (1,985)
- (3,420)
- (378)
23 -
84,228 4,303
31 (29)
(40,767) (15,022)
4,359 (4,202)
(2.021) -
585 (3.141)
(169) 45
12 (43)
46,258 (18,089)
(153) -
46,105 (18,089)
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: Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FmEREREMK
Year ended 30 June 2011 HE =T ——F R NA=1+HILFE
.

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Inferest received

Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment

Acquisition of associates

Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of equity investments

at fair value through profit or loss

Purchases of available-for-sales investments
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sales

investments
Dividend received

Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue shares

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes

Convertible notes issue expenses
Interest paid

Capital injection from non-controlling

interests

Net cash flows from
financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Non-pledged time deposits with
original maturity of less than
three months when acquired
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BEME BER
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BEBEAQTF
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BITARREBASHA
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SNER BB ZRHE
HE

FRASRASEHEEE

RERRELEEER
EERD M
REMRITER
BERZRITIHMA LR
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E R

2011 2010
—E——F —T—ZF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THT FHET
134 29
(54,403) (2,682)
(490) -
- 30
- 1,493
(50,726) -
- 378
8 22
3,194 (118)
(102,283) (848)
18,127 -
225,000 25,000
(1.125) (867)
1,500 -
243,502 24,133
187,324 5,196
15,477 11,462
(2.317) (1.181)
200,484 15,477
200,484 11.477
- 4,000
200,484 15,477




NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from subsidiaries

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible notes

Total non-current liabilities
Net assets

EQUITY

Issued capital

Reserves
Proposed final dividends

Total equity

Statement of Financial Position
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30June 2011 —ZE——FXA=+H

2011 2010
=g -—=z-=3%
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
25,360 39
25,360 39
343,452 47,078
75 1,560

- 3,198

4,695 4,038
348,222 55,874
675 150

675 150
347,547 55,724
372,907 55,763
10,567 23,046
10,567 23,046
362,340 32,717
52,115 33,617
247,595 (900)
62,630 -
362,340 32,717
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Notes to Financial Statements

AR IR MY RE

Year ended 30 June 2011 HE-ZT——FXA=+HIFE

C&RPORATE INFORMATION

EPRO Limited (“the Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
15 March 2000 under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company were
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (the "GEM") of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 2 August 2000.

The registered office of the Company is located at
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The principal place of business of the Company is
located at Room 1501, 15/F, Tung Hip Commercial
Building, 244-248 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group’s principal activities have
not changed and were involved in (i) provision of
professional information technology ("IT") contract
services; (ii) provision of maintenance services; and
(iii) re-selling of hardware and software. Subsequent
to the end of the reporting period in July 2011, the
Group extended its business into the operation of
e-commence.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Cerfified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"), and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosure required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention except for equity
investments and available-for-sales investments, which
have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 30 June 2011 HE-ZT——FXA=+HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

Basis of consolidation for the year ended
30 June 2011

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group”) for
the year ended 30 June 2011. The financial statements
of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being
the date on which the Group obtains confrol, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases. All infra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions and dividends are eliminated on
consolidation in full.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-
confrolling interest even if that results in a deficit
balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
fransaction.

If the Group losses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling inferest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 30 June 2011 HE-ZT——FXA=+HIFE

.
BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation prior to 1 July 2010

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements have
been applied on a prospective basis. The following
differences, however, are carried forward in certain
instances from the previous basis of consolidation:

Acquisition of non-controlling interests (formerly
known as minority interest) prior to 1 July 2010,
were accounted for using the parent entity
extension method, whereby the difference
between the consideration and the book value
of the share of the net assets acquired were
recognised in goodwill.

Losses incurred by the Group were aftributed
fo the non-conftrolling interest until the balance
was reduced to nil. Any further excess losses
were aftributable to the parent, unless the non-
controlling interest had a binding obligation to
cover these. Losses prior to 1 July 2010 were not
reallocated between noncontrolling interests
and the parent shareholders.

Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for
the investment retained at its proportionate
share of net asset value at the date control was
lost. The carrying amount of such investment at
1 July 2010 has not been restated.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 30 June 2011 HE-ZT——FXA=+HIFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 2.2 @3 BEFESFHRIKE
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first fime for the current year’s financial

statements.

HKFRS T Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-fime

ARG BN AR FEE IR B IRRAATH
AIREIER] 2 B R MBS LR -

BRTBREENE IR

BAREM BRSNS

Adoption of Hong Kong Financial (70 BAROERGHHEER
Reporting Standards - Additional —BARBENFEISE
Exemptions for First-time Adopters

HKFRS 1 Amendments  Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time AENBRERNER  BAVEREEAEIREL
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial (B3T%) Rz 8y BHEEA-
Reporting Standards - Limited BARHERERK
Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7 HEEAETHRELE
Disclosures for First-time Adoption EHZER#ZE

HKFRS 2 Amendments  Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share- RAENBRELANEN  BIERMBEREENELR
based Payment - Group Cash-seftled (f31) HURGZN £ HE

HKAS 32 Amendment

Share-based Payment Transactions

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation -
Classification of Right Issues

BRGHENBI2N

(B3

HEURGBERON
X5

HT%IC/% D-I-,&E\J%?’Qﬁ‘é\ﬂ@ﬁ
IA:25-#K7E

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Bk BRERE ETRETAL BRI RAE
Equity Insfruments 2k ?5 )
-REFI0%
Improvements to Amendments to a number of HKFRSs ETNEEREH BISBER_ZTNELA
HKFRSs 2009 issued in May 2009 HEER 2 ik Bz BRI RS LR
HK Interpretation 4 Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 ERREBEL (B BIERRREARHE
Amendment Leases - Determination of the Length -REELTHHEETHE
of Lease Term in respect of HR

HK Inferpretation 5

Hong Kong Land Leases
Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of

HERZLEF-GHNY

BEUREEEXERRFN

a Term Loan that Contains ZEHEHZAE

a Repayment on Demand Clause

RMZEFTREETNB BV B REE
ABZERBEBRRLBEAYBHLE -

The adoption of these new and revised HKFRS has
had no significant financial effect on there financial
statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended 30 June 2011 HE-T——

IS.SUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 7 Amendment ~ Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures - Transfers of
Financial Assets ?

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments*

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statement*
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangement*

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in other entities*
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement*

HKAS 12 Amendment  Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes
- Deferred tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets 3

Employee Benefits ®

Related Party Disclosures '

HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 24 (Revied)

HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)

Separate Financial Statement *

Investments in Associate and
Joint Ventures *

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirement !

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Amendments

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued
Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 which sets out
amendments fo a number of HKFRSs primarily with
a view fo removing inconsistencies and clarifying
wording. The amendments tfo HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKAS
1. HKAS 34 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1T January 2011
although there are separate fransitional provisions for
each standard.

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2011

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2012

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1 January 2013

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon
initial application. So far, the Group considers that the
adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs are unlikel
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBEHRE

ANNUAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity who's financial and operating
policies the Company conftrols, directly or indirectly,
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s income statement to the extent of
dividends received and receivable. The Company’s
investments in subsidiaries that are not classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 are stated at
cost less any impairment losses.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in
which the Group has a long term interest of generally
not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and
over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’'s share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition
results and reserves of associates is included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates and eliminated fo the extent of the Group’s
investments in associates, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
tfransferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates, which was not previously eliminated or
recognised in the consolidated reserves, is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is
not individually tested for impairment.

The results of associates are included in the
Company’s income statement to the extent of
dividends received and receivable. The Company’s
inferests in associates are tfreated as non-current
assets and are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit fo which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific o the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the consolidated income statement in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset and certain financial assets is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not fo an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation), had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
consolidated income statement in the period in which
it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 FE€HKBEHRE »)

ANNUAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with, the
Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that
gives it significant influence over the Group; or
(i) has joint control over the Group;

(b)  the party is an associate;
©) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

(e the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);

0] the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity
resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e); or

Q) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group, or of
any entity that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its infended use.
Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put info operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the consolidated income statement in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at infervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
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2.4 SGMI\/IARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the lease term

Leasehold improvements 20% to 50%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Computer equipment and software 18% to 33'/:3%

Motor vehicles 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the consolidated
income statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intfangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its infention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the assef, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability
of resources to complete the project and the ability
to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure
which dose not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 FE€HKBEHRE »)

ANNUAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Research and development costs (Continued)

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised using the
straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the
underlying products commencing from the date when
the products are put info commercial production.

Leases

Lease where substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
are charged to the consolidated income statement
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-
for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated
as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. The Group determines the classification
of its financial assets at initial recognition. When
financial assets are recognised inifially, they
are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asseft.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank
balances, frade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss, and avaitable-for-sales investments.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIEICANT 2.4 FESHHREME»)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

Investments and other financial assets BEREMEBEERE ©&)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement PEEETE

The subsequent measurement of financial assets MG EEREBIEN T EE

depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit RN FEFGFAERZHEEE

or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BATEFAEG U KEEBRFER
include financial assets held for trading and financial SRR ZUBEER G NERRKIETE AR
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair NFEFABR VBEE -HMBEEEN
value through profit or loss. Financial assets are NEHELAENMES  AoEARE
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for RHRBEE  WEEEREANAEERMR
the purpose of sale in the near term. This category IV ARETEAHEAER(TEREEE
includes derivative financial instruments entered into TR Ao HIR T A2 TE S Rl
by the Group that are not designated as hedging TA -B8HFEMNKARTETIAEANZLT
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by ETANMDBEABERIREZEE ' f
HKAS 39. Derivatives, including separated embedded HEABREH AT EERI - HAFEE
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading ABRZUVBEE  REBRARARER
unless they are designated as effective hedging FEAR EQATFEEZHERGEEERE
instruments. Financial assets at fair value through NERBUBFRAKTBERAE - A FEE
profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial HFRU TR EZSMBEEEZRS  Z
position at fair value with changes in fair value ERBTIBEBE N[ ER &2 Bk
recognised in finance income or finance costs in e

the consolidated income statement. These net fair
value changes do not include any dividends on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policy set out for "Revenue recognition”

below.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value AEBGTMOBEERRATEFARE
through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess B HBEE(BIEER) 2 RBERAREDN
whether the intent to sell them in the near term is BEE - WAEENA RERAMSTE
still appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade BREEEBHEEEZBRHRERNEH
these financial assets due to inactive markets and MAEBELSHHEE  ~AEBRDIR
management’s infent to sell them in the foreseeable BEBTBRTENEZSYBEE -
future significantly changes, the Group may elect to BIRERFE  RATEFABRZHBEE
reclassify these financial assets in rare circumstances. ESENMHEAERREWGIE - A]#H
The reclassification from financial assets at fair EZUBEEXFZINHAKE -

value through profit or loss to loans and receivables,
available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity
investments depends on the nature of the assets.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and otfther financial assefs
(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (Continued)

Derivatives embedded in host confracts are
accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded
at fair value if their economic characteristics and risks
are not closely related to those of the host contracts
and the host contracts are not held for trading or
designated at fair value through profit or loss. These
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
income statement. Reassessment only occurs if
there is a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assefs are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and includes
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance income in the consolidated
income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the consolidated income statement in
finance costs.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturity are
classified as held to maturity when the Group has the
positive infention and ability fo hold to maturity. Held-
tfo-maturity investments are subsequently measured
at amortised cost less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance income in the consolidated
income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the consolidated income statement in
finance costs.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIEICANT 2.4 FESHHREME»)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

Investments and other financial assets BEREMEBEERE ©&)
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments AR ELHEE
Available-for-sale financial investments are non- A HESRIEER LRI LEMBRAE
derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted HFTEMBEE - ERERE Al f#t
equity securities. After initial recognition, available- PESHIRAKRKRATETE  MAK
for-sale financial investments are subsequently FIHBEReNIHEEREELHEERE
measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or REEMEENE  EEZIRERBERE
losses recognised as other comprehensive income AL HeB 2t EBamN G BERAME
in the available-for-sale investment valuation reserve REEMKA  KEEZZLEETALE
until the investment is derecognised, at which time RER  Bleg Rt BEanNEGaBanen
the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the BRAEMEERAS  TEAHEERE
consolidated income statement in other income, or EHFEET IR - RIZ A B R BER
until the investment is determined to be impaired, at BTSRRI T HESRERE
which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised MEWMARBREWA  TRGEABRERRA
in the consolidated income statement in other ERETEMIL A -

operatfing expenses and removed from the available-
for-sale investment valuation reserve. Interest and
dividends earned are reported as inferest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in
the consolidated income statement as other income
in accordance with the policies set out for "Revenue
recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot W3 EMIRABSHEHQEEZATES
be reliably measured because (a) the variability BEFEHESLCER (O)BEEAEF
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is hZEBE NS B 2 oI AR A E
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities NEE BB EA EFEEQTFTER
of the various estimates within the range cannot be AlE AR E RN ANERER REREEE
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, BIBE o

such securities are stated at cost less any impairment

losses.

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial AEBSTHOPREEHEEHEE
assefs whether the ability and intention to sell them EZENNBERARENEBEE - HMANEE
in the near term are still appropriate. When the RARBREAMSBNERREEBHES
Group is unable tfo trade these financial assets due EZERAHBEEAEEMALESTZEY
to inactive markets and management’s intent to do BEE AEESEEEREBATE
so significantly changes in the foreseeable future, the MO EZEVBEE EVKEEMNARE
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets REREWRZREZEE  BALEEEER KX
in rare circumstances. Reclassification to loans and BENRAURBRBEEZSEEXFTER
receivables is permitted when the financial assets R AIZEEERAEETNH»EBEAEER
meet the definition of loans and receivables and REWRIE ZERARIREERFES
the Group has the intent and ability to hold these MR EEZEEMA  ZEEESEE
assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity. The EFOBRARFAEZIES -

reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is
permitted only when the entity has the ability and
intent tfo hold until the maturity date of the financial
asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and otfther financial assefs
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments
(Continued)

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-
for-sale category, any previous gain or loss on
that asset that has been recognised in equity is
amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and
the expected cash flows is also amortised over the
remaining life of the asset using the effective interest
rate. If the asset is subsequently defermined to be
impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified fo the consolidated income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired;

. the Group has transferred its rights fo receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
"pass-through” arrangement; and

. and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
passthrough arrangement, and has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset
is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the fransferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required fo repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is any objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assetfs is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event”)
and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assetfs that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications
that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses individually whether objective
evidence of impairment exists for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If
the Group determines that no objective evidence of
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or nof, it includes the asset
in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
contfinues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet
been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). If a
loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either
directly or through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used
fo discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been
fransferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the
allowance account. If a future write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to finance costs in
the consolidated income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument
that is not carried at fair value because its fair value
cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment
losses on these assets are not reversed.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a
group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of
any principal payment and amortisation) and ifs
current fair value, less any impairment loss previously
recognised in the consolidated income statement,
is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as
available for sale, objective evidence would include a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment below its cost. The determination of what
is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement.
"Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period
in which the fair value has been below its original
cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss - measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the consolidated income statement -
is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the
consolidated income statement. Increases in their fair
value affer impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available
for sale, impairment is assessed based on the same
criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost.
However, the amount recorded for impairment is the
cumulative loss measured as the difference between
the amortised cost and the current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Future interest income continues to be accrued based
on the reduced carrying amount of the asset and is
accrued using the rate of interest used fo discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded
as part of finance income. Impairment losses on debt
instruments are reversed through the consolidated
income statement, if the increase in fair value of the
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. The Group defermines
the classification of its financial liabilities at inifial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus
directly aftributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include frade payables
and, ofher payables and accruals.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss includes financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the
near term. This category includes derivative financial
insfruments enfered into by the Group that are
not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by HKAS 39. Separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held
for trading are recognised in the consolidated income
statement. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in
the consolidated income statement does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the consolidated income statement
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Loans and borrowings (Continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the consolidated income
statement.

Financial guarantee confracts

Financial guarantee confracts issued by the Group
are those contracts that require a payment to be
made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because the specified debtor fails fo make a
payment when due in accordance with the ferms of
a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract
is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognifion, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.

Convertible notes

The component of convertible notes that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a
liability in the statement of financial position, net of
fransaction costs. On issuance of convertible notes,
the fair value of the liability component is determined
using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible
bond; and this amount is carried as a long term
liability on the amortised cost basis until extinguished
on conversion or redemption. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that
is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity,
net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the
conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent
years. Transaction costs are apportioned between
the liability and equity components of the convertible
bonds based on the allocation of proceeds fo the
liability and equity components when the instruments
are first recognised.

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIEICANT 2.4 FESHTHREME»)

BBEEE)
ERXREER (&)

BHEAADFTARBIFTESDE - FatA
BREBNEBEILD 2 BAREA - B
BRR BT A A RER A BRA] -

HEEREH
AEMBETCHBRERANBEERETA
EHRFENFRENFEARREBRD A
REERIBE T AGREE D BFIAT B
HMBRZAKN BBEREOVIFRE
NP EERAS—HABE  WHBTHBHE
REHNZEEBIEXRZRAIEHAE - B
MEERE  AEEATIRSEFEN
BERAED: ORBERRFTEXNRE
BEZREGEERSE ROV T
R TR R E (ER) -

CIE: Y ES S

MEEETRTABRHZED - &
BRXERARETBRAARTHRERE
& - BT EERE - RARSIEATHR
BEzzmE BERESS 2AFE "
ZHERBHRAEERENRRY A
B BEERRIBEEIHERIL - FER
EHRRDEEC R MR - EHK
RGRARGT ABRRER - REKRFE
BB ZERETEENE - XHK
ADREERERZETARMSHIER
BEEREN B RBER  BOEW
Bl EFzBEREEAD o




Notes to Financial Statements

BRI AL

Year ended 30 June 2011 HE-ZT——FXA=+HIFE

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 FE€HBEHRE »)

ANNUAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Convertible notes (Confinued)

If the conversion option of convertible notes exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is
separated from its liability component. On inifial
recognition, the derivative component of the
convertible notes is measured at fair value and
presented as part of derivative financial instruments.
Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially
recognised as the derivative component is recognised
as the liability component. Transaction costs are
apportioned between the liability and derivative
components of the convertible notes based on the
allocation of proceeds to the liability and derivative
components when the instruments are initially
recognised. The portion of the transaction costs
relating to the liability component is recognised
initially as part of the liability. The porfion relafting to
the derivative component is recognised immediately
in the consolidated income statement.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is freated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement
of financial position if, and only if, there is currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are tfraded
in active markets is deftermined by reference to
quoted market prices or dealer price quotations
(bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments where there is no active
market, the fair value is determined using appropriate
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using
recent arm’s length market tfransactions; reference to
the current market value of another instrument which
is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow
analysis; and option pricing models.

Inventories

Inventories represent trading merchandise and direct
costs incurred for IT contract work in progress and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices
less estimated costs fo be incurred to completfion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short ferm
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, which are not
restricted as to use.

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue represents service fees received
in advance. Revenue is recognised and deferred
revenue is released to the consolidated income
statement when the corresponding services are
rendered.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value af the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the consolidated income statement.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the
Group on certain products are recognised based
on sales volume and past experience of the level of
repairs and refurns discounted to their present values
as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected
fo be recovered from or paid fo the faxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

- where the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
fransaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries
and associates, where the ftiming of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the femporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
tfemporary differences, carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused fax losses, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused fax
losses can be utilised, except:

- where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
tfransaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss; and

- in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries
and associates, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is seftled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantfively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
deferred taxes relate to the same faxable entity and
the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis
to the costs that it is infended to compensate. Where
the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
fo a deferred income account and is released to the
consolidated income statement over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to the consolidated income
statement by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when if is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(a) from the rendering of professional IT contract
services, on the percentage of completion
basis, as further explained in the accounting
policy for "Conftract for services” below;

(b) provision of maintenance services, on a time
proportion basis over the maintenance period;

©) from re-selling of hardware and software, when
the significant risks and rewards of ownership
have been fransferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement 'ro the degree usually associated
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying
the rate that discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right
fo receive payment has been established.

Conftract for services

Contract revenue on the rendering of services
comprises the agreed contfract amount and
appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims
and incentive payments arising from professional IT
contfract services. Contract costs incurred comprise
equipment and material costs, subcontracting costs,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
variable and fixed overheads.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised
on the percentage of completion method, measured
by reference to the proportion of work completed
fo date fo the estimated total work of the relevant
contract. Where the outcome of a contract cannot be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the
extent that the expenses incurred are eligible to be
recovered.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as
they are anficipated by management.

Where contract costs incurred fo date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus is tfreated as an amount due from contract
customers.

Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred
tfo date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the surplus is freated as an amount due fo contract
customers.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 FE€HBEHRE »)

ANNUAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits
Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or
paternity leave are not recognised until the fime of
leave.

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits schemes (the
"MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees
who are eligible fo participate in the MPF Scheme.
Conftributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
tfo the consolidated income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assefs of the MPF scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's
employer confributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed intfo the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a cenfral pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to confribute a certain percentage of their payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The confributions
are charged to the consolidated income statement as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby
employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-setftled transactions”).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Share-based payment fransactions (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a "Binomial Model”, further
details of which are given in note 27 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the year in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end
of the reporting period unftil the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of comprehensive income for
a year represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not
ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions
where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-
vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-
vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the ferms of an equity-seftled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
tferms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification, that increases
the total fair value of the share-based payment
fransaction, or is otherwise beneficial fo the employee
as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control
of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph. All cancellations of equity-settled
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Share-based payment fransactions (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
deftermines ifs own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency fransactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates ruling at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. All differences
are taken to the consolidated income statement
with the exception of all monetary items that
provide an effective hedge for a net investment in
a foreign operation. These are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the disposal of the net
investment, at which time they are recognised in
the consolidated income statement. Tax charges
and credits attributable to exchange differences on
those monetary itfems are also recorded in equity.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the inifial
fransactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are franslated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. At the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are tfranslated
into the presentation currency of the Company at
the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period and their consolidated income statements are
tfranslated info Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulafed in fthe
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation the component of other comprehensive
income relafing to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
tfranslated info Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated intfo Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management fo make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of confingent liabilities, at the end of the
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgment, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Income taxes

Significant judgements on the future tax freatment
of certain transactions are required in determining
income tax provisions. The Company carefully
evaluates tax implications of fransactfions and
tax provisions are recorded accordingly. The tax
freatment of such fransactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in fax
legislation.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of trade receivables

The policy for the impairment of trade receivables
of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and ageing analysis of accounts
and on management’s judgment. A considerable
amount of judgment is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including
the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each customer. If the financial conditions of
customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting
in an impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional allowances may be required.

Impairment for inventories

The management of the Group reviews an aging
analysis at the end of each reporting period, and
makes impairment for obsolete and slow-moving
inventory items identified that are no longer suitable
for sales. The management estimates the net
realisable value for such inventories based primarily
on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review
on a product-by product basis at the end of each
reporting period and makes allowance for obsolete
and slow moving items.

Estimated fair value of financial assets

The estimation of fair value of financial assets required
the Group to estimate the future market value
expected to be received from the disposal of the
financial assets and a suitable discount rate in order
fo calculate the present value.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused fax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. Further details are
contained in note 25 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Useful lives and residual values of items of
property, plant and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of
items of property, plant and equipment, the Group
has to consider various factors, such as expected
usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear,
the care and maintenance of the assetf, and legal or
similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation of
the useful life of the asset is based on the experience
of the Group with similar assets that are used in a
similar way. Additional depreciation is made if the
estimated useful lives and/or the residual values of
items of property, plant and equipment are different
from previous estimation. Useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at each financial year end date
based on changes in circumstances.

Assessment of impairment of non-current
assefts

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end
of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
fo sell and its value in use. The calculation of the fair
value less costs to sell is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
fransaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been assessed
for impairment based on the financial statements
available for those investments. This assessment
requires the Group to make estimates about expected
future performance of the investments and hence
they are subject to uncertainty. The unlisted equity
investments have been fully impaired in the previous
year. Further details are included in note 17 fo the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of convertible notes

The fair values of the convertible notes were
calculated using the closing price of the Company
and the Black Scholes option pricing model. The
models involve assumptions on the Company’s stock
price, expiration, risk-free rate and volatility. Should
these assumptions change, there would be material
changes to the valuation.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and
services and has three reportable operating segments
as follows:

(a) provision of professional IT contract services;
(b) provision of mainfenance services; and
©) re-selling of hardware and software.

Management monitors the results of its operating
segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The
adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest
income, finance costs, fair value gains/(losses) from
the Group’s financial instruments as well as head
office and corporate expenses are excluded from
such measurement.

Segment assets exclude unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated head office
and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
no operating segments information is presented in
these financial statements as over 90% of the Group’s
revenue is generated from its provision of professional
IT contfract services during the year ended 30 June
2011.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. ReEsER 2

(Continued)
Geographical information i EE R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) FREIEERZ KA
The revenue information is based on the THWABEZER M E D LE -

location of the customers.

Group
A5E
People’s Republic
of China (*PRC")
Hong Kong except Hong Kong Singapore Others Consolidated
REARLAE ()
] EERS Eifit3 Afs &4

211 2010 201 2010 21 2010 201 2010 2011 210
Z8--F "5-TF ZB--f "T-%F Z%--F _3-TF ZB--f "5-IF ZB--F "T-%F
HKS'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 = HKS'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000

Térn TET TEr TEr TEzr Tt TEr  TEn  TEr  TEn

Segment revenue: ARUA:
Sales to external SENRPIHER
customers 94,463 18194 95669 86,074 2,17 2,501 - — 192,849 106,829
(b) Segment assets (b)) PEHEE
Group
458
People’s Republic
of China (*PRC")
Hong Kong except Hong Kong Singapore Others Consolidated
REARLAE ((E)
X EERA Eip b it 54
201 210 211 210 2011 210 2011 210 201 210
Z8--F -5-%F ZB--% “3-3F Z%--F _2-3f ZB--fF -3-%F %3--f -_I3-%
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
Tér TEr  TEn Tén| TEn TEr TAr  TEr TEr T
Segment assets AHAE 39,658 22187 6289 45922 126 169 - - 93715 69,808
Copitol expenditure BERR 52,859 % 158 2615 13 Ik} - - 54403 2682
Information about a major customer EHEBRAEFZEH
A major customer of the Group accounted for RZE——FNA=ZTHLEE KEH
approximately 41% (2010: 55%) of the total revenue ZRAREFIERHENN S (ZT—FF
during the year ended 30 June 2011. 55%) e

Lim
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover,
represents the net invoiced value of professional IT
contract services and maintenance services rendered
and the net invoiced value arising from re-selling of
hardware and software.

WA~ Hib AR WS

WA (TAAREZ EXH) FREHREX
BABERS REBRERE 2EEFE
REH G EEELE 2 RRFE -

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and
gains is as follows:

REBZWA - ERAREEAFTOT

ANNUAL

Group
AEME
2011 2010
—2——F e
HK$’ 000 HK$* 000
FET FHBT
Revenue: WA
Provision of professional REEEEARMESORS
IT contract services 178,710 89.074
Provision of maintenance REKERERY
services 9.860 7,089
Re-selling of hardware W R EE
and software 4,279 10,666
192,849 106,829
Other income and gains: H A Rz
Interest income FEMBA 134 29
Dividend income from equity BRAFEFAERZ
investments at fair LETARIREREZ
value through profit or loss R IR E 8 22
Reversal of impairment of BEERE S EFRE
trade receivables (note 19) (PFEE19) - 1,985
Gain on disposal of available- HEMHLEERE
for-sales investments (note 17) BH (HFE17) - 378
Gain on disposal of equity HEERATESABRZ
investments at fair value EMARIREEREZ
through profit or loss (note 21) 2 (K aE21) - 683
Exchange gains, net HNEE Wz - R EE 3,575 955
Reversal of impairment 0] E i & UK BR FURE
of other receivables - 3,420
Government grants received £ U HR BT 46 B 532 603
Others H 4 35
4,253 8,110
Total revenue, other income LA - Hn g A Rz
and gains 197,102 114,939

REPORT

2011
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

Notes to Financial Statements
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6. KRBATER

P IREREE

AEEBRBAEF RN, GEA)T

Group
AEE
2011 2010
—2——F I
HK$’ 000 HKS$" 000
FHExT &
Cost of sales* B iH & A
Provision of professional REFELEEAREE RS
IT contract services 75,721 70,045
Provision of maintenance REKERERYE
services 5,509 4,810
Re-selling of hardware WU RBRGEE
and software 3,764 9,999
84,994 84,854
Depreciation of property, ME BEREREZITE
plant and equipment 2,080 1,406
Minimum lease payments under BIET RIEF 2 E&EHH 2
operating leases in respect of SEMLHIEAE
land and buildings 3,530 2,251
Write-off of property, plant and HWEME  WERZE
equipment 84 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BEREEZERE
plant and equipment - 89
Fair value loss on equity BEAFEFABEZ
investments at fair value ETARIRE
through profit or loss NEEEE 92 -
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEN & 450 420
Staff costs (including directors’ 8 TR (B 8T 2
remuneration in note 8): BEEHE)
Wages and salaries IERHS 8,886 8,114
Net pension scheme BRReHFFRE"
contributions* 512 548
9,398 8,662
Reversal of impairment 1 0] H fth & W2 BR BOURE
of other receivables - (3.420)
Interest income B A (134) (29)
Exchange gains, net SVEW s - FFE (3.575) (955)
Reversal of impairment of Bl EWE 5RO E
tfrade receivables - (1,985)
Dividend income from equity BAFEFABEZ
investments at fair value IHAREREERE 2 ERORE
through profit or loss (¢)) (22)
Gain on disposal of HEHEERE
available-for-sales investments - (378)
Gain on disposal of equity HERAFESFABREZ
investments at fair value FTHRARREREZ
through profit or loss 27 - (683)
Government grants received B Uz BUBR S 46 B (532) (603)
& At 30 June 2011, the Group did not have forfeited * RZE——FXNA=Z1+HAEEIL R

BHOSWEREFEZHR (T —F
£ |E) e

contributions available to reduce its conftributions fo
the pension scheme in future years (2010: Nil).

# The technical expenses for the year of HK$57,428,000 #
(2010: HK$46,642,000) are included in “Cost of sales”
in the consolidated income statement.

R F [ 2 B 1 & A % /57,428,000
BIL(ZT—FF : 46,642,000 Jt)
EREERAalaRz [RREER
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7.  FINANCE COSTS 7. ®WERX
Group
EEEH
2011 2010
—E——fF —T—TF
HKS$’ 000 HKS$' 000
FHET FHET
Notional interest on convertible NEBRMEETHE AR ER
notes (note 24) at effective ZBENE (H5E24)
interest rate 4,084 1,534
Total finance costs BE KA BT 4,084 1,534
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM=
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed BIEMTFAIEREBLE FTHEIEEED
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and Section 161 of FHEGIE161EB TR B 2 ANFEEESE
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: 2T :
Group
EEEH
2011 2010
=2——F T -TF
HK$’ 000 HKS$’ 000
FET FET
Fees we 127 120
Other emoluments: Hif< :
Salaries, allowances and EXRFHe  BEMEMR
benefits in kind EWH= 2,237 2,613
Pension scheme contributions RIKRS B 12 12
2,249 2,625
2,376 2,745

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 £ %
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.
8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (confinuea) 8. EZEE =)

(a) Executive directors () BITESE
Group
rEE
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
4
H At 2B Bie
we REWFZ IR BMe
Notes HK$" 000 HK$' 000 HKS$" 000 HKS$" 000
(= FAET FTiET TAET TET
2011 —T——F
Mr. HUANG Shaokang BORESE - 630 - 630
Mr. CHOW Siu Kwong Bkt rE - 1,365 12 1,377
Mr. LIU Lin D e (a) - 242 - 242
Mr. MENG Hu mRAE (o) - - - -
Mr. ZHANG Zhen RERAE (b) - - - -
- 2,237 12 2,249
2010 —T-ZF
Mr. HUANG Shaokang BEVREE - 598 - 598
Mr. CHOW Siu Kwong Bk EE - 1,297 12 1,309
Mr. LIU Lin WAL E - 718 - 718
- 2,613 12 2,625
Notes: £ -
(o) retired on 3 November 2010 (a) RZZE-ZTF+—-A=HEME

(b) appointed on 17 August 2010 (o) RIZ-ZF \A+LREZRE
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8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (confinuea) 8. EZEME =)

(b) Non-executive director (b) ¥HITEE
Group
rEH
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Notes HK$' 000 HKS$" 000
B 5 FERT FET
Mr. YIP Sam Lo E=Mki4E (o) - -
Mr. CHEN Ling Sonny  FRE{ 5 4E (o) - -
Notes: B & -
(@) appointed on 27 January 2011 (a) WZE——F—A=++tB%
ZE
(b) resigned on 3 November 2010 (©) R_ZE—ZFE+—AZHHE
(¢) Independent non-executive directors (c) BYIHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive BAHFPTEEZAFENSLET

directors during the year were as follows:

Group

rEH
2011 2010
—E——F —T—TF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$" 000
B aE FERT FHET
Mr. LU Wei BRELE 42 40
Mr. FONG Fuk Wai FRELRE 42 40
Mr. CHANG Chung Wai 3R fh# % & () 14 40
Mr. LEE Kin Fai 2 (B 5 (©) 29 -
127 120

Notes: B &
(o) resigned on 3 November 2010 (o) R-ZE—ZFE+—AZBHE
(b) appointed on 3 November 2010 (b) ){?’s\:;ﬁ*?iwL*ﬂ ZHEZ
E

There were no other emoluments payable to ) I f8 {F ] Bt & 98 32 3E
the independent non-executive directors during TEEZHE (T2 —FF: E) -

the year (2010: Nil).

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 £ %
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-
DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION (continued)

No further emoluments were paid by the Group to
the executive directors, non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors either as an
inducement upon joining or fo join the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

Details of share options granted to the directors are
set out in note 28. None of the directors has waived
any emoluments during the year.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year
included 2 (2010: 3) directors, details of whose
remuneratfion are set ouf in note 8 above. Details of
the remuneration of the remaining 3 (2010: 2) non-
director, highest paid employees are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and
benefits in kind

Pension scheme contributions BRIREETEIHER

The number of non-director, highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is
as follows:

Nil fo HK$1,000,000

£ %1,000,000% 7T

8.

e HtREREWN R

EEfE 2

AEEHMEANENTES FRTES
R B MATE E MM E B & A
1EREINA SR I AT 55 BB 2 52 B) ok 1F
BB B A -

BYESBEREZFBHENVBEMEM T
28 MEEERFARZEMFMME -

EEBREHET

FALEEREHEREE - (=F—-F
FZR)EZ REZMEFEARL
XHE8 c FRBRT=H(ZT—TF: W
H)FEEHRLSIFMNEEZMESFHBLT

Group

rEE
2011 2010
—E——fF T —TF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FHET
1,618 1,151
103 59
1,721 1,210

HeNFTrBERNz&sHFEERE
ZHEBENT:

Number of employees

BE AR
2011 2010
—2——F —T-TF
3 2
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for the
year ended 30 June 2011 atf the rate of 16.5% on
the estimated assessable profits affer deducting
accumulated tax losses brought forward during the
year.

No Hong Kong profits tfax has been provided for the
year ended 30 June 2010 as the Group had available
tax losses brought forward to offset the assessable
profits generated during the year.

Taxes on profits in respect of Group companies
operating elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of fax prevailing in the respective tax countries/
jurisdictions in which they operate based on existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof.

Group: REE
Current tax - Hong Kong BNERTL 15 — BB
Charge for the year REFHRZ

Current tax - Elsewhere
Deferred tax (note 25)

Total tax charged for the year FARIEZ HAEHE

REPORT 2011

£ 3

BEARE 5 — H bt [
IEIEF T (M 5E25)

10. FREHEH

BHE_ZT——F A=Z+tHLFE FE
MBI IR 5 F 2 f 5T BRI & ) A B =
16.5%+ 5 - WERE 2 R HIARE -

AEER_T-TFA=ZTREEHRE
AEAZANGEERBBERARHEFANE
EZRERBREF > R FALEERTE
TSRS -

REFENEMMREE 2 REZ BB
B OREMEMRZEEED 2B RE
Bl mEAWMBAEREZRITHEGAE -

Group

rEE
2011 2010
—E——fF —T—TF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FHET
4,800 -
153 -
1,600 300
6,553 300
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L
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FREHER»
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit BRARKRKEATBRARAR RENE AR
before tax using the statutory rate for the countries in FradMBER 2 AERRFE 2 FHEH L B
which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled ERNEEBRAEE Z2HENT -
to the tax expenses at the effective tax rate is as
follows:
Group
N |
2011 2010
—E-—-F “Z-%F
HK$' 000 % HK$' 000 %
TET FEL

Profit before tax BR 5t Al B A 78,003 7.791
Tax calculated at Hong Kong REBHEIENHE

tax rates 12,870 16.5 1,286 16.5
Effect of different faxation BINGEREH 2 F B

rafe in overseas 879 1.1 453 5.8
Income not subject to tax ZHBA (1.311) (1.7) (1.337) (17.2)
Expenses not deductible for tax IR 53 964 1.2 2,167 27.8
Tax losses utilised from previous ENANEERB 2B

periods (7.980) (10.2) (2,960) (38.0)
Unrecognised deferred ARAEEHELE

fox assets 1,008 1.3 691 8.9
Other Hot 123 0.2 - -
Tax charge at effective tax rate RERHE8.4%

of 8.4% (2010: 3.8%) (“Z—%45: 3.8%)

HEZBEZS 6,553 8.4 300 3.8
11. NET PROFIT FROM ORDINARY 11. RARHEEAELBEE

ACTIVITIES ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS BhzBFFEHE

OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s net profit from ordinary activities
attributable to owners of the Company for the
year includes a profit of HK$71,058,000 (2010:
HK$6,325,000) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company (note 28(b)).

L

RERNARBZHBREITRIEZEES A
FE(5 AW X% 2 & %5 271,058,000
BT (ZE—2ZF : 6,325,000% 7T) (FfsE

28(b)) °

i m
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12. DIVIDENDS 12. BE
2011 2010
—E-——fF —E-EF
HK$’ 000 HK$" 000
FTERT FAT
Proposed final — HK1.15 cents BEEABREERE®ERISENL

(2010: Nil) per ordinary share (ZEB—ZF : |) 62,630 -
A final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June EEgREEE S ——FA=+H
2011 of HK1.15 cents per share, totalling approximately IEFEIRMGARBREGRIISEMN 85
HK$62,630,000, are proposed by the board of directors %E #962,630,0007% 7T (A e A QA 2 (R &
to be distributed from the Company’s retained profits. BAPIRM) - ZFEREAREERFRE
The dividends are subject to approval by shareholders FREgLERRIE  FAEE - BA R
at the forthcoming annual general meeting and have REFEMBHREANIBEE - ZERNBR
not been included as liabilities in these consolidated BIRBZEHRAMBHRREMLERR

financial statements. The proposed final dividend is EEITRNDEBEHE -

calculated based on the number of shares in issue atf
the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 £ %
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13. ARTEERERERA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE EihzEREF
COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the Company, and the

BREABFNEBNEZFEARA LR
BEER B ANBEZFERN  ARFAR
BERITEBEZNEFHEE -

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

during the year.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per

share are based on:

BEREANEERNIZATEESE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’ 000 HKS$" 000
F#ExT FHBT
Profit aftributable to RETESRER
ordinary equity holders of the BN 5B
Company, used in the basic MARRR L BRER
earnings per share calculations % BRFE 1 22 A 71,450 7,491
Notional interest on convertible AR IR 2 BEAE
notes 4,084 1,534
Profit for the purposes of RUAGTE RS
diluted earnings per share BNz Wam 75,534 9,025
Numbers of shares
BRBEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Shares i 5
Weighted average number of AU ESRERLEE
ordinary shares in issue during BNz FRNBET
the year used in the basic and LR R &
diluted earnings per share
calculation 3,077,961,311 336,168,000
Effect of dilutive potential AEEETTBRR TR
ordinary shares
- convertible notes — AR ERE 1,814,483,652 194,724,329
- share options* — AR 2,530,991 =
Weighted average number of SEEREERT
ordinary shares for the purpose 58 A% h0 4 35 2K
of diluted earnings per share 4,894,975,954 530,892,329
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

* The computation of diluted earnings per *
share for the year ended 30 June 2010 did
not assume the conversion of outstanding
share optfions since the exercise price was
higher than the average market price of the
Company'’s shares for the year ended 30 June
2010.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. QR EEREZETETA
EhzBRER 2

R R AT B B R 2 AT (B
BE_Z-ZFEXA=THLF
EARBBMOFHEMELSS &
BE_Z-ZTFA=THLF
BEzEREBEZRBANZFERRL
EERBREETRE -

14. 9% - BERRE

ANNUAL

Group
158
Fumniture, Computer
landand  Leasehold fixturesand  equipment Motor
buildings improvements  equipment and software vehicles Total
B ElRE
THRNE HERE  EERRG RE# RE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TERL TERL TEn TER TEn
(note)
(W&t
30 June 2011 “E--EXAZ1H
AR 1 July 2010: “E-TELA-R:
Cost RAE - 1,083 2,170 9,778 138 13,169
Accumulated depreciation ZETERAE
and impairment - (658) (1.706) (7.068) (21) (9.453)
Net carrying amount BEFE - 425 464 2,710 17 3,716
AR 1 July 2010, net of “E-TELA-R
accumulated depreciation BB EHNERAE
and impairment - 425 464 2,710 17 3716
Additions RE 52,197 671 638 891 - 54,403
Write off g - (84) - - - (84)
Depreciation provided ERRERE
during fhe year (362) (206) (196) (1.288) (28) (2.080)
Exchange realignment EHAE - 12 17 101 5 135
At 30 June 2011, net of —E-—ERXf=TH"
accumulated depreciation BB EHTERAE
and impairment 51,835 824 923 2,414 94 56,090
At 30 June 2011: “E-—%xA=1H:
Cost RAE 52,197 1,638 2,854 10,492 145 67,326
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTERAE
and impairment (362) (814) (1.931) (8.078) Gy  (11,236)
Net carrying amount REFE 51,835 824 923 2414 94 56,090

REPORT 20
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.
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ¥ - BMERZHE o)

(Continued)
Group
T%E
Furniture, ~ Computer
Leasehold  fixtures and  equipment Moftor
improvements  equipment and software vehicles Total
e )B4
RERE RERKE PN "E CHI
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FAR FAR FAR FAR FET

30 June 2010 ZZ-TFXA=TH
At 1 July 2009: ZTTAFEA-H:

Cost KA 1,108 2,110 7,663 - 10,881

Accumulated depreciation ZETER(E

and impairment (639) (1,601) (6,097) - (8,337)

Net carrying amount REEE 469 509 1,566 - 2,544
Af 1 July 2009, net of “ZTNELR-B-

accumulated depreciation BB R ERAE

and impairment 469 509 1,566 - 2,544
Additions RE 181 172 2,191 138 2,682
Write off s - - - - -
Disposal HE - (75) (44) - (119)
Depreciation provided FRFERE

during the year (228) (145) (1,012) @) (1,406)
Exchange realignment E AR 3 3 9 - 15
Af 30 June 2010, net of ZZ-ZERA=TH"

accumulated depreciation BB R ERAE

and impairment 425 464 2,710 17 3,716
Af 30 June 2010: ZZ-TFERA=TH:

Cost AR 1,083 2,170 9,778 138 13,169

Accumulated depreciation ZHMERRE

and impairment (658) (1,706) (7,068) @) (9.453)

Net carrying amount FEFE 425 464 2,710 117 3,716

Note: s :

AEBEZ I EMEMREBER  XREF
HEEHFE -

The Group’s land and buildings are situated in Hong Kong
and are held under a medium lease term.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
engaged an independent valuer, Ascent Partners Transaction
Service Limited, to assess the market value (the “Market
Value”) of its land and buildings. During the year ended 30
June 2011, no impairment was made as the Market Value was
higher than its carrying amount of the land and buildings at

R-F——FRA=1TH ZLHWEHNEHLE
VRABEREXGHEMIALEZRIRBEERA
AFEETmSEEIMSER] AR _F——
FRA=ZTH HE+LuRWEITHSEESR
HEEREFE  #ULERARMERE -
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15. AMB AT Z2RE

Company
b N
2011 2010
—E——fF —T—TF
HK$’ 000 HK$" 000
TERT FAET
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETRG - EKAR 45,459 45,459
Capital contribution in respect BTEIRMHAEEL
of employee share-based A E (fFEE27)
compensation (note 27) 2,721 2,721
48,180 48,180
Impairment RERE (22.820) (48,141)
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR ZIEE 25,360 39
Due from subsidiaries NN P 370,301 126,804
Impairment of amounts due JE W B B A B R IR R B B
from subsidiaries (26.849) (79.726)
Due from subsidiaries, JE W5 B BB X B R TE B R R (E
net of impairment 343,452 47,078

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, inferest-
free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

MBARESRRERER 2EREREERE
TRH

ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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.
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (confinueay 15. RMIB AT 2B E (&)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

£

ePRO (BVI) Limited

EPRO Computer Systems
(Beijing) Company Limited

HEERRR (LK) BRAT
(notes a & d) (Miakd)

EPRO Systems (Chinay) Limited
HEZS (PE)BRAF

EPRO Systems (HK) Limited
HEAR(BE)BRAT

EPRO Systems (S) Pte. Limited
(note d) (fii&Fd)

EPRO Technology Limited
SEMBBERARA

Shanghai EPRO Software
Company Limited

LEZERMHERAF
(notes ¢ & d) (fiizEckd)

Epro E-commerce Group Ltd
(note c) (Miztc)

Epro E-commerce Ltd
SEEFHBERAT
(note c) (FizEc)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
operations

ERRL/
EREEEEH2HE

British Virgin Islands
EERLES

PRC
e

Hong Kong
7R

Hong Kong
0

Singapore
AR

Hong Kong
BR

PRC
"t

British Virgin Islands
EBRLES

Hong Kong
BE

Nominal value

of issued and
fully paid share
capital/registered
share capital
BETR
HRBAR/
ZRA

ZHEE

Nil
i

US$700,000
700,000% 7t

HK$925,000
925,000 ¢

HK$100,000
100,000/ 70

$$400,000
400,000 713 7T

HK$1,000,000
1,000,000/ 7

US$200,000
200,000% 7t

US$100
100% 7T

HK$100
100/ 7T

FEMBRRAZFEBOT

Percentage
of issued
capital/registered
capital held

by the Company Principal activities
HADRRE
ZERfT
BA&/E

EREM TEER
Direct  Indirect
EE EE:

100 - Investment holding

REER

- 100 Provision of professional

IT contract services

REEZEANREE RSB

- 100 Investment holding and

provision of professional

[T contfract services

BREERRREEER

BAREAORHE

- 100 Investment holding and

provision of professional

[T contfract services

RAERRREER

BRBEAORSE

- 90 Provision of professional

IT contract services

RUFEEARREORE

- 100 Provision of professional

IT contract services

RESZAAREE RSB

- 90 Provision of professional

[T contract services

RESXEAMRSNRE

100 = Investment holding

REER

- 100 Provision of professional

IT contract services

and E-business
RESZXEANREEHRS
KEFLETE
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuey  15. R B AT ZRE (&)
Notes: MEEE
(a) This subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign owned (a) ZEM B AR TRE D BEDAEZM A
enterprise under the PRC law. BEERE -
(b) This subsidiary is registered as a foreign investment (b) KB A RIRIEPBAEER AING IR
enterprise under the PRC law. B
©) These subsidiaries were newly incorporated during the ©) UL BB A R A E AR SLH o
year.
(d) Not audited by Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited. (d) WIRREEGSHMEBAERQAF] -
16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 16. REEE QT 2
Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTET FHET
At end of year: RARELL
Unlisted shares, at cost LM - AR 493 3
Share of net assets DIEEERE (23) -
Impairment HE ) ®)
467 -
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TEEOMAEB B2 AT 2T BEE R
information of the Group’s associates extracted from DO ETEER VEHE
their management accounts/financial statements:
2011 2010
—2——fF —E-TF
HK$’ 000 HK$" 000
THET TET
Assets BE 584 -
Liabilities BfE (1.053) -
Revenues Wz 150 -
Loss for the period from H-T—TF+-A+A
10 December 2010 (RAIKMZB)E=Z——F
(date of incorporation) to NA=THIEZERE
30 June 2011 (469) -

ANNUAL REPORT
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 16. RBEE QR 2= (@)
Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: FEBERRZHBEHINOT
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ ownership
Business registration interest attributable
Name structure and operations to the Group Principal activities
AL FRREE AEBfEE
A8 EBRE EB2HE REEZEDL TEEH
2011 2010
“E-—-F _—T-ZF
ePROgistics Limited (note (a)) Corporate Hong Kong 30 30 Provision of logistic IT
SEMRBEFRAE (H(a)) NG e contract services
REDTREAREE ORE
eSilk Road Import & Export Corporate Hong Kong 49 - Provision of E-business
Limited (note (b)) (Fi (b)) AF] EE REBFLOERE

Notes: B & -

(a) No financial information had been provided as (a) SBYRMEBERAREE-_ZTTLHF
ePROgjistics Limited had commenced a deregistration HEITRESH AR /7 P DA 0 R B 75 B RHR R
process in year 2007 and is still in a process at the HEARER  ZAHME#ETHR -
date of these financial statements.

(b) eSilk Road Import & Export Limited was acquired by (b) RZZTE—-——FXA—B XR2FAMN
the Company on 1 June 2011 at a consideration of 490,0007% 7t f& AeSilk Road Import
HK$490,000. & Export Limited

The Group's interests in the associates were indirectly REBRBEAT 2 ER BB EANE

held through wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Group ARIEERE AEEHER—EB L2

was entitled to the same percentage of voting power REBERNEREBDLARED B -

and profit sharing as denoted in the ownership
percentage.
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17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALES INVESTMENTS
Unlisted funds at fair value FLEMES  BRAYE
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LMD - IR
Impairment VEREEN
Net carrying amount at RAEREZ REFE

end of year

During the year ended 30 June 2010, the Group
disposed of certain fully impaired available-for-sales
investments with a gain of approximately HK$378,000
(note 5).

18. INVENTORIES

Contract work in progress EITHRZEHTRE
Merchandise for sale 15 55 73 o

At the end of the reporting period, the inventories of
the Group carrying at net realisable value amounted
to HK$3,000 (2010: HK$34,000).

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 £ %

17.

18.

AHHERE

Group

AEME
2011 2010
—E——fF —T—TF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FHET
51,012 -
317 317
(317) (317)
51,012 -

RZZ—ZESA=ZTHIEFEE AEE
HEC2BREMAHROERE - LAE
Wz 49378,0007% 7T, (FiT5E5) o

7E
Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHET
34
3 34

RIEHR - AEBERATE R FET R
FEA3.0008 T (=T —Z4F : 34,0004
JT) °
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19. 19. BERE SR
Group
REE
2011 2010
—E——fF —T—TF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTERT FHET
Trade receivables J& W B 5 BR 3K 62,869 26,469
Due from contract customers B aHER (Mita)
(note a) 12,044 7,422
Impairment R E (1.936) (1,681)
72,977 32,210
Note (a): M1 (a) ¢
Confract work in progress: EITHRZERHTIRE
Contract costs incurred plus B RIFTE £ 6 KR
recognised profits less HNE R & FR
recognised losses to date 2R EE 16,420 12,199
Less: Progress billings B RAEE AR (4.376) 4,777)
Gross amount due from BWEHNEFPHIEBE
contract customers 12,044 7,422
The movements in provision for impairment of trade LATREWE SEFRE2E
receivables are as follows:
Group
REE
2011 2010
—2——F —T-TF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTERT FHET
At 1 July »tA—8 1,681 4,590
Reversal of impairment (note 5) B mURE (FFEE5) - (1,985)
Amount written off as uncollectible 88 gE Uz B 2 FIE - (1,.019)
Exchange realignment ME 5 2 255 95
At 30 June WANA=+H 1,936 1,681
The Group’s trading terms with its customers BRITEP —MATRAEMMIN  REEEE

BEPZESGRREZREELN - 5RE
BREEP T aEgsR  ENLLAEER
AEBEZREERTDESBEFL AR - 8
WESAEERBRES ZEN - BUIRR
RTEE o

are mainly on credit, except for new custfomers,
where payment in advance is normally required.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that the Group’s frading receivables relate
to diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are
non-interest bearing.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group'’s tferms on credit sales primarily range from
30 fo 180 days (2010: 30 to 90 days).

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on fthe invoice
date, is as follows:

Current

31 - 60 days
61 - 90 days
91 - 180 days

Over 180 days

B H]

31 - 60Kk
61 - 90K
91 - 180K
HiE180K

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are
not (or neither individually nor collectively) considered
to be impaired is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired

Less than T m
1 fo 3 months
3 to 6 months

onth past due
past due
past due

Over 180 days

ANNUAL
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19.

—FRA=THLFE

EWE ZRM &)

AEEZ BRFHLR —MHI0KRET80K T
F(ZZ—FF : 30KE0X) -

RBERR REZAHAECZERES
R ZBRBR AT -

Group
rEE

2011 2010

—E——F —E-FF

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

THET FHET

64,036 23,014

6,204 4,672

816 1,637

470 1,841

1,451 1,046

72,977 32,210

W IR AR AE (i B B SR B R E) 2 &

WESERZRERATWOT :

Group

rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’ 000 HK$" 000
FHET FHET
45,173 28,397
26,659 1,361
436 2,143
3 164
706 145
72,977 32,210
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. BEWE SRR @)
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired N £ 38 H N 4R 2 B WG AT BR Y 4 4E
relate to diversified customers for whom there was no RICBZOBBEPE 2R -

recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired BMEERBEZ BWRERANEEREF RIT
relate to customers that have a good track record with W EFBR - REBTLR BRE
the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of BEEEZUWEEAEE  MESEKRITEE
the Company are of the opinion that no provision for AU E2HKE AR ESTRAHEARM
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances WEEREL R ERE AEEWER U
as there has not been a significant change in credit EERBEETMARARHEMRRES -

quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over these balances.

20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20. F{dZE - ¢ R EfE

RECEIVABLES U Fx 18
Group Company
rEH PN
2011 2010 2011 2010

g% -T-TF =% -F -T-FF
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$" 000

TR FET TR FET
Prepayments BRSRIE 1,138 1,861 75 1,560
Trade deposits Bo5ke 1,953 4,648 - -
Deposits and other B REH M YR
receivables 4,198 5,139 - -
7,289 11,648 75 1,560
Less: Classified as non-current S B AFERHEE
assets - (1,250) - -
Classified as current assets PBEARBEE 7,289 10,398 75 1,560
None of the above assets is either past due or MEALLEERB BB RME - LillEs
impaired. The financial assets included in the above PEZERMEAENESR BB L2
balances relate to receivables for which there was no FEBGRB -

recent history of default.
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21. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 21. A F @A AERZ LT

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed equity investments, BERLTzeRIRE
at market value in mRmEFHE
Hong Kong

During the year ended 30 June 2011, the Group
acquired certain listed equity investments, which were
classified as held for trading as at 30 June 2011.

The fair values of the equity investments as at 30 June
2011 were determined based on the quofted market
bid prices available on The Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 30 June 2010, certain of the
equity investments were disposed of with a gain of
approximately HK$683,000 (note 5).
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RARERE
Group
rEH
2011 2010
—2——F —T-TF
HK$' 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
1.929 -

RZZ——F A A=Z+THIEFE A%E
BETHERELTZRERE %2R
BRER-_Z——FRNA=ZTHEHDBERRE
EEZRE

RZZB-——FRA=1TH 2RKEZA
FEDBEBEAIRBIAESZMRERE
5o

RZZE—ZFRAZTHEILEFE 2R
AO W E - EAEE W 4 /53683,00008
TT(KEES) o
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22. BEFRBRELEEEARD

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

Cash and bank balances Be RiRTHES
Time deposits EEBER

Less: Pledged time deposits i BEEUERAT

for securing banking BMEmER 2
facilities TEER
Cash and cash equivalents e kB EEER

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and
bank balances of the Group denominated in
Renminbi ("RMB”) amounted fo HK$8,902,000 (2010:
HK$4,669,000). RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies. However, under PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Seftlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

The banking facilities of the Group were secured by:

O] there was no corporate guarantee executed
by the Company during the year (2010:
corporate guarantees amounting to an
aggregate of approximately HK$18,300,000 was
executed by the Company); and

(i) the pledge of certain of the Group’s time
deposits amounting to approximately
HK$3,500,000 (2010: approximately
HK$6,700,000).

=,
K#HFEMX
Group Company
rEE NN
2011 2010 2011 2010

—2—-F% —T-TF —B-—-F _—T-TF
HK$’ 000 HK$"000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TER FHET TER FET
200,484 15,477 4,695 4,038
3,524 6,718 - 3,198
204,008 22,195 4,695 7,236
(3.524) (6.718) = (3,198)
200,484 15,477 4,695 4,038

REMEHRR  AEEUARER/EM 2R
© KR 1T 4 #8 £8,902,0008 T (ZF —
T 1 4,669.00087T) - ARBTAIAE
MEBMAREMING AW - BEABSE
SMVEE IR I R AE - BERMNMEEER
EoASERERBEREETIVERS
ZRITBARE AL B EAMINE -

REEZRITHETIA T BIBEREA -

0) RERARAHERIAEMN QA
ER(-CZ-ZF ARAIEER
% 4918,300,000/% 7T) 2 2~ Al &
R K

(i AEBEHERZHETERIFY
3,500,000/ 7T (— T — T4 : 4
6,700,000/ 7T) °
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TRADE PAYABLES

An aged analysis of trade payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on payment due date, is
as follows:

Current Bl B
31 - 60 days 31 - 60K
61 - 90 days 61 - 90K

Over 90 days HE0K

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 22 July 2009, the Company issued two zero coupon
convertible notes (collectively, referred to as "CN1")
with an aggregate principal amount of HK$25,000,000.
CN1 does not bear interest, is convertible into the
shares of the Company at a conversation price of
HKS$0.121 per share and with maturity date of two
years from the date of issuance. During the year
ended 30 June 2011, CN1 has been fully converted
info 206,611,570 ordinary shares of the Company.

On 10 August 2010, the Company issued fwo zero
coupon convertible notes (collectively, referred
tfo as "CN2") with an aggregate principal amount
of HK$225,000,000. CN2 does not bear interest,
is convertible info the shares of the Company at
a conversation price of HK$0.05 per share and
with maturity date of three years from the date of
issuance. During the year ended 30 June 2011,
certain of the CN2 with aggregate principal amount
of approximately HK$213,416,000 had been converted
info 4,268,320,000 ordinary shares of the Company.
The remaining CN2 of HK$11,584,000 were also
converted info 231,680,000 ordinary shares of the
Company subsequent to the end of the reporting
period in July 2011.

REPORT
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23. ENE SR

P B 5 8RS s B R 0 B R A 3R 5 )
Rat 2RO T

Group

rEH
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-ZF
HK$' 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
1,738 1,438
10 35
227 301
850 466
2,825 2,240

24, TRKREREE

RZTTZNF+A=Z+=8  RARIELT
17 AN & %8 #£3% 25,000,000 7T 2 Mt 5
METHREER (GEIATRKRER D -
HHEEBIALE ARIBKESK
01218 LA ] AR R R M MR # 17 B
HERFERIP - R _T——FRA=T
BLEFE FEAURKREBRIE2HEH
/3206,611,5700 AR A1 H@AR o

R-Z—ZFN\A+RH ARAEETMMH
7K & %8 #£$2£225,000,0007% 7T 2 A~ B 75 F)
SARERE(REIMBRRER2]) -7
BMREB2RRE - R HBEFTRK0.05
BB ARB R LR ET AR
ZFANEH - RBE-Z——FRA=T
BIEFESD ATRERER2E2EY
213,416,0007% 7T £ # % /54,268,320,000
BARREBER RBERR_-T——F
T A FHZ AR 1R24911,584,000
78 7T JT B ¥4 # 55231,680,000/% A& A Al &
AR e




24,

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended 30 June 2011 HE-T——

-
CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Confinued)

The principal amount of CN1 and CN2 have been
split between the liability components and equity

components, as follows:

Liability component

At beginning of year

Liability component of
convertible notes
at date of issue

Direct tfransaction costs
aftributable to the liability
component

Notional interest charged (notes a)

Convertied into ordinary shares
of the Company

At end of year

Equity component
At beginning of year
Equity component of
convertible notes at date of issue
Direct fransaction costs
attributable fo the equity
component
Convertfied info ordinary shares
of the Company

At end of year

Note:

BEAHH

REEY)
RETRATRRER
Z B E#D

BEFNZEERSE
HENSER (MiZa)
BRAARAEBK
RELK
L £:10%)
REEY

RETAAERRRE
Z e AR D

AR IR MY RE

FRA=ZTHLEFE

24, TR EE =)

HMERRIRATBRRER2ZASERE
HEbD R A MBI

BaRhcBEERSER

BIRAARNAREBR

RERK

(@) Pursuant to the terms of the CN1 and CN2 respectively,
no interest was payable by the Company to the CNI1
and CN2 holders. The notional interest charged only
represents an accounting interest calculated at an
effective interest rate of which no actual payment was
incurred by the Company.

Group and Company

AEBER KA T
2011 2010
—g——&  —z-=&
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FHET
23,046 -
198,446 21,512
(992) -
4,084 1,534
(214,017) -
10,567 23,046
2,621 -
26,554 2,621
(133) -
(27.682) -
1,360 2,621

RiED E‘J—J}&'HXT})%]&—J?%H E7&2
ZBEX  REWEN S XA ATRERR
BIRABMBRBE2FEA - MM B E

ZHS—RAREXS .ﬁ"iiﬂﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬂ Gt
BEHRZAE - RARREER X%
FE -
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24. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 24, ATRKREE @

The fair value of the liability components of CN1 and BEBD ZAFEHRBILTHEIBRER
CN2 were calculated by an independent valuer, BRI R AR EE27 BT A KR
based on the estimated discounted cash flow over HBMFRIR SR E - WREETA
the remaining contractual terms of the CN1 and BBRFEZ TIHFERER - AT RKREZER
CN2 and discounted using a market interest rate for LamRER2zBEEH S 28R ED 5
an equivalent non-convertible notes. The discount #5.92%%4.27% i & 78 (A= K ik
rate of the liabilities component of the CN1 and HAZEBE)N[JHREEEEZRLD B
CN2 was 5.92% and 4.27% respectively. The residual T2 RE#ER AR -

amount, representing the value of equity conversion
component, was included in shareholders’ equity
under “Equity component of convertibles notes”.

The inputs into the model were as follows: B 280T :
CN2 CNI1
AR SR HR2 BESES Y
10 August 22 July
2010 2009
(issuance date) (issuance date)
—T—TF —TTNF
ANA+H +A=-+=H
(B1TEH) (B1TEH)
Stock price AR (B HK$0.697% 7t HKS$0.13/8 7t
Expiration Z|H B 3 yearsfE 2 years4
Risk-free rate = R B Al 2 0.53% 0.32%
Volatility bt 53% 103%
25. DEFERRED TAX 25. IEEBIH
Deferred tax liabilities FEEHEBEE
Group
TEE
2011 2010
—ZET——F T —TF
HK$’ 000 HK$* 000
FET FHBT
At 1 July RntA—H 300 -
Deferred tax charged to FARFFAGLZEWERZ

consolidated income statement BT IR

during the year (FiF3E10)

(note 10) 1,600 300
At 30 June BNA=+H 1,900 300
The above deferred tax liabilities represented taxable FHRERIEEBEREARERE DT PR
temporary differences arising from amount due from H (19 EECERBIGREZEH o

contract customers (note 19).
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DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets

The principal components of the Group’s deferred
tfax assets not recognised calculated at deferred tax
rates in Hong Kong, Singapore and the PRC at 16.5%
(2010: 16.5%), 18% (2010: 18%), 24% and 25% (2010:
22% and 25%), respectively, on cumulative temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period, are as
follows:

75 75 15 4R
IR E R

Tax losses
Accelerated depreciation
allowances

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
fotal tax losses arising in Hong Kong and Singapore of
approximately HK$46,899,000 (2010: HK$94,494,000),
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. The Group did not have tax losses arising
in the PRC that are available for offsefting against the
following five years’ taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose (2010: Nil). Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some fime.

As 30 June 2011, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2010: Nil) for taxes
that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of
certain of the Group’s subsidiaries or associates.

25. EEHIE &)

EEBEEE

BREENAZ BHEHEZR  RIEE
B HNS - FE R AR ZEERE S )
R16.5% (ZF—FF :16.5%) - 18% (=
T—TF 18%) » 24%[25% (ZE—F
6 20%525%) ¢ A EAEBAER 2
EREAEZEERHMT :

Group

rEH
2011 2010
—2——F —T-TF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHERT FHET
7.380 15,630
(32) 40
7,348 15,670

RBERR  ARERBERFMKESE
58 7% 185 18 2 51l 046,899,000/ 7T (—F —
T 4F 1 94,494,000/ 7T) 7] AR K #H 2 A
RRZERB @A - AEBEHENPEE
AN EHEZERRNERAFERD G
MZBBBER(ZE—FF  8) - ARZ
SEEXEEER —BREEZMBAR -
B LU HERIEE R IR B EEITHER

RZZE——FRA=Z+H AEHBTER
ETHBARSEE QR ZREL2HME
N2zBEMARERE R 2 RERIELER
HEE(ZZ—ZF  E) -
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26. SHARE CAPITAL

Notes
i:
Authorised : EE:
At 1July, ordinary shares RtA—8 EREE
of HK$0.1 each 0IATZEBR
(2010: HKS0.1 each) (-3-3%:
BREH0IET)
Capital reduction hes:)eh (a)
At 30 June, ordinary shares RAAZ1R SREE
of HK$0.01 each 001% Tz EER
(2010: HKS0.1 each) (Z2-%2%:
BRER0IET)
Issued and fully paid: BERTRAR:
At 1 July, ordinary shares RtA-B SREE
of HK$0.1 each 01T LBk
(2010: HKS0.1 each) (z2-2%:
BREF0IET)
Capital reduction BRAHI (a)
Issue of shares Bkl (b)
Exercise of share options fEERE ()
Conversion of shares from BATRRER
convertible notes mETkR (d)
At 30 June, ordinary shares RAAZTH
of HK$0.01 each EREE001ETLZ
(2010: HKS0.1 each) ERR(ZE2-25:
BREF0IET)

(@

ANNUAL

Pursuant to a special resolution passed
on 18 June 2010, the nominal value of all
issued and unissued shares in the share
capital of the Company was reduced from
HKS$0.10 to HK$0.01 per share (the “Capital
Reduction”). The authorised share capital of
the Company of HK$1,000,000,000 divided into
10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each had
then been reduced to HK$100,000,000 divided
into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.
The issued share capital of the Company
at that time of HK$33,616,800 had been
reduced to HK$3,361,680 as a result of the
reduction in par value of the shares in issue
and the credit of HK$30,255,120 arising from
the Capital Reduction was eliminated against
the accumulated losses of the Company. The
Capital Reduction was completed on 26 July
2010.

REPORT 2011
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26. A
2011 2010
-g--f& ZT-%F

Number Nominal Number Nominal
of shares value of shares value
RA%A e e A
HK$' 000 HK$" 000
TER TET
10,000,000,000 1,000,000  10,000,000,000 1,000,000
- (900,000) - -
10,000,000,000 100,000  10,000,000,000 1,000,000
336,168,000 33,617 336,168,000 33,017
- (30,255) - -
400,000,000 4,000 - -
400,000 4 - -
4,474,931,570 44,749 - -
5,211,499,570 52,115 336,168,000 33,617
(@) WE-—BERZZE—ZFSAFTAN

BERBNIZEIRER  AQARK
APEBETRARETHRMHEE
B m&K0.10% TR £0.0178 T
(TR AEIRL) » AR REERA
1,000,000,000/8 7t * 0 A& K E
fE0.10/% JT #910,000,000,0008%
f% 15 - A Itk 2 8 100,000,000
B ASREMEOONET
10,000,000,000/% i 5 = B E
BITRHOEEZRE  NAREE
O %17 I 733,616,800 T IR 2
Tk 23,361,680/ 7T B R% A Bl
M & 4 #930,255,1207% 7T # §R 71
EHEARANREEBE - ZBA
BIRER =T —ZF LA =+
A5 °
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 26. B )

(b)  On 30 April 2010, the Company entered info by R-ZE-—ZFFMA=+H K
a subscription agreement (the "Subscription A Al EChangAn Investment
Agreement”) with ChangAn investment Holdings Il Limited &Innopac
Holdings Il Limited and Innopac Holdings Holdings Limited ([#& & A ) &7
Limited (collectively the “Investors”). Pursuant YRBEHE ([RBHH]) - &
to the Subscription Agreement, the Company AR BEBRGEREMKEE A
conditionally agreed to allot and issue to B 2% K % 17 (i) & #£400,000,000
the Investors (i) an aggregate of 400,000,000 fRRER D ([REKRMD])
subscription shares (the “Subscription Shares”) IR R R H0.058 T BARER
at HK$0.05 per share for a total consideration of 20,000,000/ 7t - K (i) & 4258
HK$20 million, and (ii) convertible notes with an #225,000,000% Jt 2 7] # kR =&
aggregate principal amount of HK$225 million. Be-R_Z—ZTF/\A+H AR
On 10 August 2010, 400,000,000 Subscription &% 77400,000,0000% R 88 I 15 ©
Shares were issued. The net proceeds from the REROZIERBEFEANE
Subscription Shares was applied to set up and SRBERETFTHKERRIEAR
develop e-commerce business and as general SE—REEES BHEFBH
working capital. Details of which has been RARRMR_Z-—FTFMOA=+
stated in an announcement of the Company ARz RAERN-
dated 30 April 2010.

(¢)  During the year ended 30 June 2011, a share () WZZE——FRA=1TBHILFE-
option holder exercised his option rights to —ZERERFEATEELERE
subscribe for an aggregate of 400,000 ordinary Mo LAEROAIB TITEEREE
shares of the Company of HKS$0.01 each at #400,0000% & % ® {£0.01%8 T 2
an exercise price of HK$0.43 per share. The AAmEBBRRG - FTRAZ
proceeds of HK$172,000 has been applied in Fr182172,0008 L EEAR S E 2
the working capital of the Group. HiBEE® o

(@ During the year ended 30 June 2011, @ O “E-—FXA=1+AHI

convertible notes with principal ¥ - A% $25,000,000
amount of HK$25,000,000 ("CN1") were (TaT g Z=#E D) BT 2w
converted into 206,611,570 ordinary RREBEERIBRETR
shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each 01218 TR AR QT
at a conversion price of HK$0.121 per 206,611,570/ & I m &
share. The net proceeds of the CN1 had 00V BTz TG -
been fully applied as general working AR IR 2 PSR IEF
capital of the Group during the year BEREAEE  —HREE
ended 30 June 2010; and Be &k

(i) Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, (i) HE_Z——FXA=+
the Group issued another convertible HIEFE AEERER
notes with principal amount of BHEAZETRES —A£8
HK$225,000,000 ("CN2") during the 225,000,000 jT 2 A #
year ended 30 June 2011, of which [ 2=4% ([AT R RE2]) °
HKS$213,416,000 has been converted & %213,416,000% 0.2
info 4,268,320,000 ordinary shares of AHREEE IR HIRES
the Company of HK$0.01 each at a f%0.05% ;L K B AR R
conversion price of HK$0.05 per share 7]4,268,320,0000% & A& |
during the year. The net proceeds of the fE0.01 B 2 EBmARMR D ©
CN2 was applied to set up and develop AMBRERZEREF
e-commerce business and as general ERARBIRERETHE
working capital. Details of which has BEBRE/AREE—K
been stated in an announcement of the HEES ARAFBER
Company dated 30 April 2010. ARARR_TE—ZFMA

=+tHTFIEZAER -
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 27. BERESTE

Details of the Company’s share option schemes and RATERETE RBIEZEFE BT

the share options issued under the schemes are as BRREFBOT

follows:

(a) Pre-IPO share option plan () BEXAHERAIBRE

=t &l

In recognising the contribution of certain ABRETAEBRETESSALEE
directors of the Company fo the growth of BUEER HELAATERNGE
the Group and/or the listing of the shares of LATERIER ETAEZ R &
the Company on the GEM, the shareholders RZZEZZFE+ A/ =+ 008 HEH
adopted a Pre-IPO share option plan (the “Pre- BRAREBRATERESE (T8
IPO Plan”) on 24 July 2000. Pursuant to the RRRBBATE R c RIEE R
terms of the Pre-IPO Plan, 25,725,752 options NABRATE & Z &K AR A
to subscribe for shares of the Company were ERZZEEEFLAZ+HME
granted to three directors on 26 July 2000, at “NEEREATRBEARARS
an exercise price of HK$0.70, with a vesting 2 BB A% 125,725,752 » 1T {F &
period of six months from 2 August 2000. RO70%BTT BEHBA_TTTF
The options are exercisable from 2 February NAZ—BRENEA  ERER
2001 until 23 July 2010. However, each of —EE—GF-_A-_HRBE_ZT—
the grantees is not allowed to exercise in TELA-Z+=H1EATNUITE
aggregate in exceed of 25% of all the options R HEERBRADTEREMANE
granted within any six-month period. The Pre- AATEAEABREEDERER
IPO Plan expired on 2 August 2000, but the #25%,2 FE iR 7 - H IR AR A RA
granted options remain exercisable. FEIRN _TZETE)\A _HEH -

HERE 2 BN T7 -

The following share options were outstanding LTARRFEREERXARBR
under the Pre-IPO Plan during the year: Bt mAREITE 2 B
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercisable Data of Exercise
Name or Lapsed period of grant of price of
category of As at during As at share share share
participant 1 July 2010 the year 30 June 2011 options* options options*
R-%2-2% R=B--% BREL B BREZ
SHEABRFAEER tA-H FEERN ~AB=tH fixcd BRERD e~
HKS per share
SAR
Director
Bz
Mr. YIP Sam Lo* 1,986,367 (1,986,367) - 2February 2001 26 July 2000 5.57
to 23 July 2010
EoRgEr —Z%-F 3 32
ZAZR% tA=+7H
%%
+tA=-1Z=H
* Resigned on 3 November 2010 * RZF-FF+A=HEME

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 %
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Confinued

(@)

(®)

Pre-IPO share option plan (Continued)

# The vesting period of the share options is from
the date of grant until the commencement of
the exercise period.

#* The exercise price of the share opfions is
subject to adjustment in the case of rights or
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

As a result of the ten-to-one share consolidation
exercise and the one-for-two rights issue on
30 December 2005, the exercise price of the
aforesaid outstanding share options was
adjusted from HK$0.557 to HK$5.57 and the
number of share options outstanding were
adjusted from 19,863,670 to 1,986,367 in
accordance with the terms of the Pre-IPO Plan.

Share option scheme

The Company, pursuant to a resolution passed
on 12 February 2007, adopted the New Share
Option Scheme ("Share Option Scheme"”) for
the purpose of providing incentives or rewards
to eligible participants for their confribution
fo the Group and/or to enable the Group to
recruit and retain high-calibre employees and
aftract human resources that are valuable
fo the Group and any entity in which fthe
Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested
Entity”). Eligible participants of the Share
Option Scheme include the directors and
employees of the Company, its subsidiaries or
any Invested Entity, suppliers and customers of
the Group or any Invested Entity, any person
or enfity that provides research, development
or fechnological support to the Group or any
Invested Enfity, any adviser or consultant to
any area of business or business development
of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity, any joint venture partner or business
alliance that co-operates with any member
of the Group or any Invested Enftity in any
area of business operation or development
and any shareholder of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of
any securifies issued by any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity. The Share Option
Scheme should, unless otherwise terminated or
amended, remain in force for ten years from 12
February 2007.

27. WBIRESTE 2

C))

(b)

ERDBBRAERE

at &l @)

* EREsBEHEARLED
ZITEERABRILE -

o IR 2T AT IR o
BTN - AR RBA L E
R E BT TR -

ERG+Ra6R—BKkHE
THER-_ZEREF+ A=+
B S5 A MRk EE — BT M
B B RITEBREZITE
BE HR0.5578 L B E5.57#
TYREBEERAFRBRATE 2
BRERITERREZEACH
19,863,670F % 1,986,367 -

BT E
EARBABER-_ZZLF A
TIBEBBZRERRMNBR
RS ([ERESS]) 5
BRRBEAEEFELERZE
ER2EER,/LABEHAEEE
ERBRBEERREENBAEAE
BRAEBEFAEMREZZRE
(REERD EEREEBZAN
ER-BREASZ2AERSZH
ERRART  EWMBARKE
MREERBZEZRER A%
B EMEEER 2 HERRE
P EARAEERETAREER
BERFAR HEIRMIEZ
ALRER AEBEITEHRER
A ERREER 2 EBHER
TR Z AT 2 AR S A A A
HEAREBEMKE QB REMFMK
EERNEBEERERZMEM
BEAIEZAZBHRERHE
WA B A S B ] B B A B 3 A7
REERZEMBRRIALREH
ERRBERAREMREE B H
TZEMEZRZEAFBA - BR
RS BRIES TIAKL LSBT -
BH-_TEELF_A+-HE—
BEM BE+F -
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

ANNUAL

(®)

Share option scheme (Continued)

The total number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at 12 February 2007, being the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme,
(i.e. not exceeding 24,012,000 shares of the
Company). The Company may seek approval
of the shareholders in a general meeting for
refreshing the 10% limit under the Share Option
Scheme save that the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company under the limit as ‘refreshed”
shall not exceed 10% of the fotal number of
shares in issue as at the date of approval of
the refreshed limit. Options previously granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Company (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised
in accordance with the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes) will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the limit.

The maximum number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share optfion schemes of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the total number of
shares in issue from time fo fime. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which optfions granted and may be granted
to each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at the date of grant. Each
grant of options to any director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder must be approved
by independent non-executive directors.

REPORT 2011

£ 3

27. WBIRESTE (2

(b)

BREE (2
BEERESES IR TERES
BHBRBETBBEARRRE
THE A+ - AERES
WEB BTG 210% (BN T B
KA 7A)24,012,0000% i 17) ° &
IR E FTAR R BE AR AT 21 2 10%
REAREBERG ESRKEELE -
HERTEREBEBERESSI AR
RAIAMEMEREASARETZ
S EHEREMIZBEE R
FETZBOHBAERETESBER
HEEHBRBEAHREBITRMDE
H210% > ZARIBEEES S &
ARATEMEMTSREZER
E(BEZSHAITE Bl
EARBRIBIEEREASSZ RAM
Hit BB TE 2 BRE) 3t
HEREME NEFEER -

ARBERES B RARAERE
BN EFEMEE R BERE
TRZBEEETEERTZE
BEROBE  TEBEEARFD
R B 31T ) S B2 30% o ME
12 A HRMARRTFEE28EE
BRE(BEETERHRITEHS
fetE) 2 BEITRB T ETRMND K
ETGEBEARTDTERERMN
HEBTROZ1% - AERES -
BERAUTERTIERRELER
TEREB I IEMITE R
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(®)

Share option scheme (Continued)

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their
respective associates would result in the shares
of the Company issued and fo be issued upon
exercise of options already and to be granted
in excess 0.1% of the Company’s share capital
or with a value in excess of HKS5 million must
be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

The offer of a grant of share options shall be
accepted within 28 days from the date of offer,
upon payment of a nominal consideration
of HKS$1 in fotal by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, save that such
period shall not be more than ten years from
the date of the offer of the share options
subject to the provisions for early termination
set out in the Share Option Scheme. There is
no minimum period for which an option must
be held before the exercise of the subscription
right attaching thereto except otherwise
imposed by the board of directors. The exercise
price is determined by the directors of the
Company but may not be less than the higher
of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Company’'s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.

27. WBIRESTE 2

(b)

BRESTE ()

1) 2 AR R oA A R L SR L
AEFAREEAZHEALE
IR B EEE R ER
B BB 1T 0B T B 4T R AG B AT 2
AATRGBBERFARE 20.1%
sk {5 i 185,000,0007% 7t - BIIZ&
FRIMEAR TR -

EYTEREZEZZAREZZAH
228K M4 30 d AR A BN
EHRIBTZERERE-ERTE
BEzTERDAESEE K
ERPBRES BT AHEREN
RIEZBEX - ERABEAIEZR
METELREBRARLS T4 K
FEMEFEFEHATE BAL
BRITEBREMNS ZRBRE
MU EARAEREREZREHR -
TEBIVHARAEETETE
TEERUAT=ZEZ8EE : ()
ARBABROREHER (BAERE
ERRBRMTARERABZ
WiE : (DARBRONERR
HEANEEEXAERBIME
B RE R FHUTE « R(iii)
RRABBAD Z E{E
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (confinued) 27. BRRERTE (2
(b) Share option scheme (Continued) (b) BREE (2
The following share options were outstanding UTAERFEEREBEERESER
under the Share Option Scheme during the R IETTE 2 B AR AE -
year:
Number of share options
EREHA
Exercise
Name or Exercised Exercisable Date of price
category of As at during As at period of grant of of share
participant 1 July 2010 the year 30 June 2011 share options*  share options options*
BRZB--f
R-2-B% REE ~B=tH BREZ B BREZ
SRELBRFBER tA-H i HARTEHE [igid i BERERS frEE"
HKS per share
BRAT
Director
=
Mr. CHOW Siu Kwong 2,880,000 - 2,880,000 9 July 2007 to 16 July 2007 0.43
8 July 2017
Bk k& 3 2 3
tANBE tATRA
ZEtf
tANR
Employees 1,440,000 (400,000) 1,040,000 9 July 2007 to 16 July 2007 0.43
8 July 2012
8T ZETLE ZETLE
tAhAEE tA+~E
“Z-F
tANB
4,320,000 (400,000) 3,920,000
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 27. BRER & (2
(b) Share option scheme (Continued) (b) BRESE (2
# The vesting period of the share options is from # BREsBEHERRLEH
the date of grant unfil the commencement of EITEERABRILE -

the exercise period.

# The exercise price of the share options is " B AR 2 1T B AR T AR
subject to adjustment in the case of rights or BITAR AR ARAZH
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the AR g M A T -

Company’s share capital.

Share-Based Payments KRG Z T2 508
Share option grant date
BRERLAH
Batch 1 Batch 2
EEkiid ETHE
16 July 2007 16 July 2007
ZEELF —EBELHF
tA+xHE +tA+KH
Fair value at grant date BEBZATE HK$1,697,520/8 7c HK$738,961/% 7T
Number of share BRHEREHSE
options granted 2,880,000 1,440,000
Exercise price 1B HK$0.437% 7t HK$0.437%8 7t
Expected volatility T8 HR K 1@ 96.95% 96.95%
Expected life TE BRI F HA 9.99 yearst 4.98 yearst
Risk-free rate g & 4.790% 4.790%
Expected dividend yield 8 A [a] 7 % Nil 4 Nil &
The fair value of the share options granted HE-_ZZN\FEFXA=1+HItF
during the year ended 30 June 2008 had been ERtzEREREZAFEER
charged to the consolidated income statement —EENFRNAZTRHLEEFEZ
for the year ended 30 June 2008. The fair value SEAEEBRRPHB - BEBREZA
of options granted was calculated using the FENDZ-_ERAENXTE - FEH
Binominal Model. The expected voldatility is used SR T A A ARRE IR () 2 B E EA
the 5-year, weekly annualized volatility of the BAEFH7IRFEFERKIE - ME R
underlying stock. Risk free rate represents the RENRTIEHEZIHEEBEESLS S
10-year yields to maturity of respective Hong HEeZEANE 2 I -

Kong Exchange Fund Note as at the valuation
date.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(®)

Share option scheme (Continued)

The exercise in full of the oufstanding share
options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 3,920,000 (2010: 4,320,000) additional
new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (2010:
4,320,000 ordinary shares of HKS$0.1 each),
with aggregate proceeds before related issue
expenses of approximately HK$1,685,600 (2010:
HK$1,857,600).

As at the date of this annual report, the tfotal
number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme was 18,972,000,
representing approximately 0.35% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

28. RESERVES

(@)

The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and
the movements therein for the current and
prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 44 of
this annual report.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 £ %

28. f#f&
() A5H

27. BRESTE (w)
(b) MR (x)

REARBDERRARE &
BOTEHARTEBRESER
173,920,000 (=& — T F :
4,320,000) f% & fx @ (50.017% 7T
(ZZ—F% : 4,320,000F @5
BRMECIEIT) 2BINTE B
PR B 17+ B 1S SRR AR RE (SN AE A
TR AT £91,685,600% 7T (—
T —F4 1,857,600/ 7L) °

FEAFERA - A B BIZT
8 R% 19 42 7 /18,972,0008% - £
RARNA2EE BTN #0.35% -

AEERRFRBEFEZ#HB
RESHHEHENAFRIMAZ
FEEDEPR -
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28. RESERVES (Continued)
(b) The Company

AtT July 2009

Share opfions lapsed
during the yeor

Issue of convertible nofes
(note 24)

Tofal comprehensive
income for the year

At 30 June 2010
and 1 July 2010

Capital reduction
(note 26(a))

Issue of shares, net of
share issue expenses
(note 26(b))

Issue of convertible notes

Direct transaction cost
attributable to the
equity component
of convertible notes
(note 24)

Exercise of share options

Issue of shares on
conversion of
convertible notes
(note 24)

Total comprehensive
income for the year

Proposed final dividends
(Note 12)

At 30 June 2011

RZEZNELA-R
REEE Xz BRE

YAAERES
(Fi5t4)
AER7REUSES

R-E-BEARZTER
“8-85tA-F
RAHE

(K3226(0)
BORAENRES
BB (K26(b))

EODEES

TERZERENGZ
ERRAER
(Hfz24)

fiRRRE
BATRREE
fgTRE (M)
AEECEAURAR

RRAARE
(HiE12)

RZ2--£XB=1H
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28. f#E @)

(b) AT
Equity Retained

component profits/ Proposed

Share premium Option of convertible (Accumulated final
account reserve notes losses) dividends Total

TEREE  RERA/ REAH
ROEEE  BRERE BERG  (ZRER) k& Eh
HK$" 000 HKS 000 HK$" 000 HKS"000 HK$"000 HKS"000
TR TEn T TR T TExL
30,184 2,121 - (42,781) - (9.846)
- (285) 285 - -
- 2,621 - - 2,621
- - - 6,325 - 6325
30,184 2,436 2,621 (36,141) - (900)
- - - 30,255 - 30,255
13,955 - - - - 13,955
- - 26,554 - - 26,554
- - (133) - - (133)
313 (205) - - - 168
196,950 - (27,682) - - 169,268
- - - 71,058 - 71,058
- - - (62,630) 62,630 -
241,462 2,231 1,360 2,542 62,630 310,225

Lim
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RESERVES (continued)
(b) The Company (Continued)

The share premium account of the Company
includes (i) premium arising from the new issue
of shares in the current and prior years netted
of share issue expenses; and (ii) the difference
between the consolidated net assets of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant fo the group
reorganisation upon listing in July 2000 over
the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange therefore.

Under section 34 of the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, the special reserve and share
premium account is available for distribution
to shareholders subject to the provisions of the
Articles of Association of the Company and
no distribution may be paid fo shareholders
out of the special reserve and share premium
account unless, immediately following the
date on which the distribution or dividend is
proposed fo be paid, the Company shall be
able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group leases certain of its office properties and
staff quarters under operating lease arrangements.
Such leases are negotiated for the terms ranging from
one to three years.

At 30 June 2011, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases falling due as follows:

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth years, F_EZERF
inclusive (BREEME)

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 £ %
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28. f#E @)

(b) XRF &)

ARAR B ERBEGKRF
EREEEBRTHREEZEE
MR AR #ETHX  ROARER
—TETEFELALTHETZSE
EEAmMKBLMEARER 2
RAaBEFERBETFEARRY
RRABBRAZEEZZHE -

RIEH BB RRDEFRIME
fﬁ%&ﬂﬁﬁ/ﬁFﬁETfﬁ“/ﬁ
Hx% MAFAEARRBEMERZ R
E o BRIE RERELZHEDIRK

RN BER®KR  KRAEHEE

BERBEHBRP ZBBES
B R G d 45 Bl 6 B i B
FRA AR AR H 2 IR SR R, -

REBORH

ARERBEEEOEFEAETHAE
MEREIES - EHE2DEREHN
F-E=F-

RZZ——FRA=1THB REFAHH
KERY  AEBBRRATFRINZ AR

REEENESBBHOT
Group
rEH
2011 2010
—E——F —T—TF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET FHET
2,708 1,644
1.410 848
4,118 2,492
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C&NTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 30 June 2011, the Group had executed
performance bonds of approximately HK$245,000
(2010: HK$245,000) in respect of certain services
provided by the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES

In addition to the balances detailed in note 16 to the
financial statements, the Group had the following
fransactions with the related party during the year:

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

Short term employee benefits EEEEEA
Total compensation paid to MEEEBEALZMFZ
key management personnel PN

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in note 8 to the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

As detailed in note 24 to the financial statements, the
remaining convertible notes with principal amount
of HK$11,584,000 were converted intfo 231,680,000
ordinary shares of the Company of HKS$0.01 each
subsequent fo the end of the reporting period in July
2011.

30.

31.

32.

L

HREE

RZEBE-——FRXA=Z+H AEEHAE
EERHRZETRBEZLRNRE
245,000/ 7T (= F —Z F : 245,000/
JT) °

BEEALRSZ R&ERR
B B 5 SR BB 1 6P IR 2 S 8451 - AR
RENBBEALTIATRS :
AREIEERABZMS :
2011 2010
e —z-=%
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHT FHT
3,488 3.754
3,488 3,754

ERE=EHE 2 FBECHRN M WMEM T
8 o

BREAREAREHE

BN LB SE24RF M RIBE AR -F
——FtH  FHEIEMN,584,000/ T
B 8 1 /5231,680,0000 A 2 7 & R E A
0.0 Tz &k

m
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. €T E 298

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RFERR  SESMITAZERENT
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

Financial Assets EMEE

Group
458
Financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

BATEHABEZEREE
Designated as
such upon Held-fo-maturity Loans and Available-for-sale
initial recognifion Held for trading investments receivables financial assets Total
MISERRER BhEE HEHERE LEVLLES TRiEEEREE ait

2011 2010 2011 2010 201 2010 201 2010 2011 2010 201 2010

Z§--F -Z-%F ZB--F "Z-%F ZE--F "2-%F Z2--F "2-3F Z§--F "2-3F D8--f "5-%F

HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 = HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

Tén TEr  TEn TEr TRn TEn| TEn TEr  TEm TEr  fEn  TEn

Trade receivables EhE B - - - - - -9 R0 - - 9 R0
Finoncial ossefs included ~ #FABHFE - &8
in prepayments, deposits — REfEUGRZ

and other receivables SHEE - - - - - - 618 9087 - - 4181 9787
Available-for-scles Tl ERE
investments - - - - - - - - 51,012 - 51,012 -
Equity investments ot RATEAER
fair value thiough profit 2 EHAE
andloss RERE - - - - - - 199 - - -1 -
Pledged deposits BEARR - - - - - - 3,524 6,718 - - 3524 6718
Cosh and cash equivalents  E& iR ZEEE - - - - - - 00484 15477 - - 200484 15477
- - - - - - 285005 64192 51,012 - 336017 64192
Company
A7

Financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

RAVET )RR EREE
Designated as
such upon Held-to-maturity Loans and Available-forsale
inifial recognifion Held for frading investments receivables financial assets Total
MISEIRER 5fEE RENERE ERREYR THESREE &5t

2011 2010 2011 210 201 2010 201 2010 2011 2010 201 2010

Z%--F “%-%%F Z8--F -“3-%% ZB--F "T-%F Z%--F "5-%F Z8--F "I-TF Z8--F “1-%%

HKS'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

Tén TEr  TEn TEr  TRrn TEn| ThEn TEr| TEn TEr fEn  TEn

Due from subsidiaries EUMEARE - - - - - - 343452 47,078 - - 33452 47078
Financial assefs included ~ sFAERZE kg
in prepayments, deposits kA tERZBEZ

and other receivables SBAE - - - - - - - - - - - -

Pledged deposits BERER - - - - - - DAL - - - 3%
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RESZEER - - - - - - 4695 4038 - - 4695 4038
- - - - - - 8N4 54314 - - Me4T 54314
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33, FIIQIANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. €T E 258 »)

(Continued)
Financial liabilities StRAaE
Group
558
Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss
RATEHABECERAR
Designated as such upon Financial liabilities at
initial recognition Held for trading amortised cost Total
RSRIREE RERE RBERASIRERER Eh
201 2010 201 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
S$--% -T-T% [Z8--§ _I-%%f ZB--§ _%3-3F ZB--F _I-%Tf
HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000
Thz TEn Tén FEL Thz TEn TEn TEn
Trade payables EREAER - - - - 2,825 2,240 2,825 2,240
Financial liabilifies included in -~ s AEMERFER
other payables and accruals B EEZARER - - - - 10,806 10,975 10,806 10,975
Convertible notes THEZEE - - - - 10,567 23,046 10,567 23,046

- - - - 24,198 36,261 24,198 36,261

Company
527
Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss
RATEHARECERAR
Designated as such upon Financial liabilities at
initial recognition Held for trading amortised cost Total
RISERBER KRR REHAASIRZERER @it

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
2% -F-%F 23--F -R-FF Z8--F -%-%F |28 -F CF-%f
HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000
TR TEL TEn TEn TR TERL TiEn TERL

Financiol liabilties included in -~ s AEHERFER
ofher payables and occruals  EiAECEREE - - - - 675 150 675 150
Convertible notes ThREEE - - - - 10,567 23,046 10.567 23,046

- S - S 11,242 2319 11,242 23,19

Lim
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34. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 4. PR EELRHE
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining AREBRNATUTZEZREEMET LK

and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

BemMIAZAFE-

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted F—H: FAEEZBMEBYERSHRT
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for AENRE(REAB)FTEAF
identical assets or liabilities. fBE -

Level 2:  fair values measured based on valuation F-H: FMEEEFRMSSEUSR T
techniques for which all inputs which have a BEORE IMBEEZHAY
significant effect on the recorded fair value BEEIBEEARATBEDTISH
are observable, either directly or indirectly. EEOHERN - sFTEATFEE -

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation FE=H: FRAEFMEZHALIEENA

tfechniques for which all inputs which have
a significant effect on the recorded fair
value are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs).

BEMSRENGEERMIH
AFEECCIIBEEGAE) -

The Group held the following financial instruments RMEBR REBBUTZE/ I A

measured at fair value as at the end of the reporting NEBEARE:
period:
Financial assets TREE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-8 ot =8 @t
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Z2--% _I-%F IZF--f _3-Tf IZ%--Ff _Z-T£ ZIZB--f C_Z-%%
HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK§'000  HKS$'000
ThT TiEx ThT TR ThT TiEn TET TiEn
Available-for-sales investments ATt EFE 51,012 - - - - - B2 -
Equity investments ot foir value ~ BATEFABE
through profit or loss PG ES 3 1929 - - - - - 1929 -

ANNUAL

REPORT 2011
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Year ended 30 June 2011 HE-ZT——FXA=+HIFE

HNANCUH.RBK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest bearing loans and other
payables and accruals. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities (e.g. tfrade receivables) and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board
reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below. The
Group’s accounting policies in relation fo derivatives
are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing financial
assets and liabilities with a floating interest rate as
at 30 June 2010 and 2011. The Group’s results and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal tfransactional currency
exposures as the sales and purchases of the Group
were mainly transacted in United States dollars
("USD"), Renminbi ("RMB"), Singapore dollars ("SGD"),
Australian dollars (*AUD"), Canadian dollars ("CAD"),
and Hong Kong dollars ("HKD"). Approximately 52%
(2010: 85%) of the Group’s sales are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of
the operating units making the sale, and almost 78%
(2010: 93%) of costs are denominated in the units’
other functional currency.

During the year ended 30 June 2010, the exchange
rate of USD was rather stable. Approximately 3% of the
Group’s sales are denominated in these currencies.

During the year ended 30 June 2011, the Group did
not have any sales which are denominated in USD

35.

MHEEREEEBRERBUR

BROTETAIN AEEZTEEHIAR
BHEBZEREEMENRRERER -
ZEERMTIAZTEANDAAEBEZ X
BEEES AKEAZHRAMERERE
KB & (E AR R RN R I EE
HXBESE -

AEBESRTAMELAZIZRARAR S
mEMNERR SRR FEERR MR
PEsRE EFEERILAEREES
ZEERZBE  ZEBERMA S o K
SEATATAEHZ G RERANUTH
WARMEE2.4 -

RenBNREAR
AEER-B-BR-B——FxA=T
A EEI BN EHE I EASMAER
B - FEBEABDLERBERSR
BEHTEHBHERDVE -

oh L B

MAAEEZHERREERUET ([
) ARBTARKD - #omsoe ([#
sgsTl) BT (DR ~ s (Tzxl)
EAET (BT ETRS  WARKE AKX
ERHEEAR REBLH2% (ZF—
THE85%) LHENETHEZZEESR
Lz NEeEHIAINEWEE - MEAT78%
(ZF—FF : 93%) ZRARIAERL 2T
BEEBLMINEEEE -

REBE-Z-ZTER-ZF——FXA=+
BEFER  ETZ2EXEREE A%
EK3% s HEAZEEREE -

RZTE——F R A=+H KEBELREHU
EURZEEGREE-




Notes to Financial Statements

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the exchange rafes of SGD, AUD, CAD and
RMB to HKD, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax.

30 June 2011 —E——-%XA=+H
If HKD weakens against SGD 18 78 7T 34 3 D03 TT ¥ 85
If HKD strengthens against SGD 1181 78 7T 5 8 3K T B o

If HKD weakens against AUD 78 T HIR T E 55
If HKD strengthens against AUD AT R TER

If HKD weakens against CAD i 78 7T 4 N 8 55
If HKD strengthens against CAD OV =L

If HKD weakens against RMB HWETHEARBES
If HKD strengthens against RMB AT AREE S
30 June 2010 ZZE-TFA=1H
If HKD weakens against SGD 111 78 7T 38 03K T 88 55

If HKD strengthens against SGD 8178 7T 58T N T 8 5

If HKD weakens against AUD fiel B T IR T E 5
If HKD strengthens against AUD i 78 7 R T o

If HKD weakens against CAD (EVEPIB =T
If HKD strengthens against CAD 78 T H TR

If HKD weakens against RMB BT ARBES
If HKD strengthens against RMB BT AREHER

* Excluding retained profits

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 £ %

PRI T AE

Year ended 30 June 2011 HE-ZT——FXA=+HIFE

35, BHEREEBRBERBE

(%

K L B (4
TRETEEHHOERERTE2 BN
T REE 2 BB AT A RS BOR SR
IETT RTT - MTTIAR A REE R HR
BN R PR 2 HRE -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
exchange rate before tax in equity*
ExLt#H BR Bt AT A 3301174
(g B/ () (RD) *
% HK$' 000 HK$' 000
% TET TET
5% (93) -
(5%) 93 -
5% (2) -
(5%) 2 -
5% (20) -
(5%) 20 -
5% (1.009) -
(5%) 1,009 -
5% 74) -
(5%) 74 -
5% ®) -
(5%) 7 -
5% (28) -
(5%) 28 -
5% (1,305) =
(5%) 1,305 =

* TEERERT
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. iIKEAREEBERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group requires all its operating unifs fo use
forward currency contracts to eliminate the foreign
currency exposures for currencies other than US
dollars and on any individual transactions in excess
of HK$500,000 or equivalent, for which payment is
anticipated more than one month affer the Group
has entered info a firm commitment for a sale or
purchase. The forward currency contracts must be
in the same currency as the hedged item. It is the
Group’s policy not to enter into forward contracts until
a firm commitment is in place.

The Group has no foreign currency contracts
outstanding at 30 June 2010 and 2011.

Credit risk

The Group frades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to frade on credit tferms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In additional,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis. For transactions that are not denominated in
the functional currency of the relevant operating unit,
the Group does not offer credit ferms without the
specific approval of the management.

The credit risk of the Group’s ofther financial assets,
which comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-
for-sale financial assets arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amount of these instruments.

Since the Group ftrades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed
by customer, by geographical region and by industry
sector. There are no significant concentrations of
credit risk within the Group.

(&

SIS L B ()

KEBEREMBERZ2EN BBEA
500,000/8 jt ek Al & & 30 38 B4 — f@ A
MABENRZERIRZ SN A LB L HEE
BEEARKRERERSL  IEEEMAE
TTASNEE Z N ERR - EHERSHL
AEPTH AR 2 EEAR - AEEZK
RARGHEAFAM T ZEMEH -

R_F-—FR-F-——FXA=+R &
S A R 8 2 SN B 40 o

FERRE
AEEEARRARAMEERHFZF =TT
TR - AEEZBERBARARES
ETRG2EPHAKEERZERRF - It
Sh REBESHBEEERUHER - AL
FAMEZEEN IR EREEZRS
ME ARELTTERREEEEHEL
FERTIR IR -

AEFBARXZUHFROMELEZEMLS
REE(BRASLASETEY  THY
ESREE BRATESABRZEZERAR
A HMERFAEETITAETR) Z2&S
EERREENZEIAZEREME-

A AEEERERRAREERIFZE=
TETRS  MBEEAAR FERRSE
TEAXEP HERITERS - AKHE
TEEREERBERER
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk fo a shortage of funds
using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool
considers the maturity of both its financial instruments

and financial assets (e.g. trade receivables) and
projected cash flows from operations.

Internally generated cash flows and bank borrowings
are the general sources of funds to finance the
operations of the Group. The majority of the Group’s
banking facilities are subject to floating rates and are
renewable annually. The Group regularly reviews ifs
major funding positions to ensure that it has adequate
financial resources to meet its financial obligations.
The Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by
maintaining committed credit lines and sufficient bank
deposits to meet its short ferm cash requirements. The
Group’s liquidity risk management includes making
available standby banking facilities and diversifying
the funding sources.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contracted undiscounted payments, was as follows:

35.

BAFE¥RAR MY RE

FRA=ZTHLEFE

MHEEAREEZEEREREE

(&

REBESER
AEEERBERADESHETABRA
EeEBAR - HIAEELOMIAR
SWAE (MEKESER) 2 EHA LR
HH U ALK -

NHEEZRERELBTEERLER
EBEL 2 —RHFR - REBKXEMHIRTT
MERIBNERFRINEGFER - A%
B EE2E MR URRERR
WU BERANENEIEEL - NEEE
EEBRIHPACEAREER MU
BREBESZERE YEABAMZRTHE
FoNENEHREFRE -AEBZRD
HEREESELHRERERRTRE R
7 BE 2 MR o

REHR AEEZeRABEREDE
HARBBFIAZBBAEROT -

Group
L3 |
Held to 3 to less
On demand Less than 3 months than 12 months 110 5 years Total
RERER SRR ZEREHRT=EA -31f @it
2011 2010 201 2010 201 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“g-—-§ -%-%3F Z%-—-% -%-%Ff Z8--Ff -%-3F %% -%Z-TFf Z¥--F C-%-%fF
HK$'000  HKS$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn T TiEn AL TiEn TAL TiEn T TiEn AL
Trade payables EREHER - - 2,821 2,240 - - - - 2,821 2,240
Other payables and ~ EHERFER
accruals [ AE - - 10,865 10,975 - - - - 10,865 10,975
Convertible notes TRRER = - = - - - 10,567 23,046 10,567 23,046
- - 13,686 13,215 - - 10,567 23,046 24,253 36,261

REPO
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. iIKEAREEBEZERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%
Liquidity risk (Continued) REESERE &)
Company
LY
Held to 3 to less
On demand Less than 3 months than 12 months 110 5 years Total
RERER SRR ZEREHRT=ER -E5% @
2011 2010 201 2010 201 2010 2011 2010 201 2010
“g--§ -%-%3F ZB—-% -%-%Ff Z8--f -%-3F %% -%Z-TF Z¥--F C—%-%f
HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TAL TER TER TER TEL TER TAL TER TEL
Other payobles and ~ EffERFHBER
accruals it BE - - 673 150 - - - - 673 150
Convertible notes TaREE = - - - - - 10,567 23,046 10,567 23,046
- - 673 150 - - 10,567 23,046 11,240 23,196
Equity price risk BREEKER

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the level
of equity indices and the value of individual securities.
As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has
no significant equity price risk.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital
management is fo safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to if, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders of issue
new shares.

B SR (B AR BB A e 1 B SR 48 BUKF R A& B
EHBEREEmMEARMAZE SR FERD
ZRE R EHR  AEELEE KRR
EEBRR -

EXEE
AEMELER T BAEARBAEE
ZRERE LN REBBRY BRI E
NUEHHEBRERREREME -

AEEEEEEARE  WHEEBERE
BFL R - AEBE AR A B RRRE
2B MERBEEETHRND Z2ES N
BRI RFBEAERE -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by the fotal capital plus
net debtf. Net debt includes trade payables, other
payables and accruals, deferred revenue and
convertible notes less pledged deposits and cash and
cash equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable
fo equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratios
as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

Trade payables ERE SRR

Other payables and accruals

Deferred revenue I E W =
Convertible notes AR R E R

Less: Pledged deposits Ji - BEAER

Cash and cash equivalents

(Cash)/net debt (Re) /EHEE

Equity attributable to A ARG ER

equity holders

Total capital RN
Capital and net debt BEARREREFE
Gearing ratio BRABLE

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative figures and items and balances
have been adjusted and reclassified to conform with
the current year's presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26
September 2011.
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BHEREEERERBE
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EXRERE @)
AEEEREABEL R (LEHFER
NEERMEERFEAE) ERER -
BERFEREENESERNR  HMENR
BEREFAE  EERERATRERER O
EEAERERE A SEFERE) - &
ABEARABBRAZAEABIEER - R
FHIR BAREBELENAT

Group
AEH
2011 2010
e —T-%F
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
F#ExT FHET
2,825 2,240
10,806 10,975
537 525
10,567 23,046
(3.524) (6.718)
(200,484) (15,477)
(179,273) 14,591
362,340 32,717
362,340 32,717
183,067 47,308
NA RiEH 31%

EERE T

ETFLBRETEEELBEREFNHE
RFBAREREZ 23F -

B RR AL E

MBH/RER T ——FAA-+ R AE
Exef e RERETE-




Five Year Financial Summary

FEBHEREE

A summo.ry of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as exfracted from the published audited financial
stafements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set

TXRAEERATEAMBRFE 2 REREE -
BELRFEREEHME  DTREBAKEZEA
MREBZUMBRE  ULBEEEYEHHE -

out below.
Year ended 30 June
HEAAZTHLEE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
“2—-f C-—Z-TF ZRENF ZETNFE CTTLHE
HK$* 000 HK$ 000 HK$' 000 HK$ 000 HK$' 000
TER FHEL THR TR THR
RESULTS £
REVENUE ON 192,849 106,829 66,984 50,825 61,538
Cost of sales ERBERL (84,994) (84,854) (51,408) (37,512) (41,924)
Gross profit EH 107,855 21,975 15,576 13,313 19,614
Other income and gains Hi e A R ez 4,253 8,110 1,819 10,456 2,207
Selling and disfribution costs WERABRA (662) (642) (689) (983) (1,118)
Administrative expenses TREA (29.336) (20,118) (20,173) (26,989) (19,705)
Finance costs BEARK (4,084) (1,534) ) (213) (157)
Share of profits and losses of MMETHRARZBFI R
associates gkl NG (23) - - - 7)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BEAAT/ (B1) 78,003 7.791 (3.469) (4.416) 834
Income tax expense MEHER (6.553) (300) - 5,907 ©®
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR EERH/ (BB 71,450 7.491 (3.469) 1,491 825
Attributable fo: W& :
Equity shareholders of RRAERRE
the Company 71,450 7,491 (3.419) 1,713 825
Non-controlling interests FEER - - (50) (222) -
71,450 7.491 (3.469) 1,491 825
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE 8ER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERES
TOTAL ASSETS EEBE 393,775 69,803 40,650 42,429 43,504
TOTAL LIABILITIES aELE (31.435) (37,086) (16,879) (15,322) (32,432)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS ek s (1,500) - - (50) -
360,840 32,717 23,771 27,057 11,072
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